INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

. . . <u>.</u>

University of Alberta

Overwinter processes and wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta

by

Murray S. Bullock



Doctor of Philosophy

in

Soil Science

Department of Renewable Resources

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2001

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-60279-6



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Murray S. Bullock

Title of Thesis: Overwinter processes and wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Year this Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Marriey Bullock

511 East 200 South Burley, Idaho 83318

Date: April 17, 2001

"13. For it is expedient that I, the Lord, should make every man accountable, as a steward over earthly blessings, which I have made and prepared for my creatures.

17. For the earth is full and there is enough and to spare; yea, I prepared all things, and have given unto the children of men to be agents unto themselves.

4. And an account of this stewardship will I require of them in the day of judgement."

The Doctrine and Covenants 104:13,17 and 70:4

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Overwinter processes and wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta submitted by Murray S. Bullock in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Soil Science.

Yongsheng Feng (Co-supervisor)

R. Cesar Izaurralde (Co-supervisor)

Francis J. L

. Kershan

G. Peter Kershaw

David S. Chana

James A. Robertson

eith E. Saxton (external reader)

Date: April 17, 2001

ABSTRACT

Wind erosion is one of the main forms of soil degradation in the semiarid region of the Canadian prairies. Overwinter changes in aggregate size distribution generally increases wind erosion risk. Elucidation of overwinter processes (i.e., freeze-drying, freeze-thaw, blowing snow abrasion) would allow for wind erosion risk assessment and prediction. The objectives of this study were to: 1) determine the effect of freeze-drying on aggregate breakdown; 2) monitor changes in dry aggregate size distribution (DASD) and surface roughness and identify relationships to climatic variables and 3) determine the kinetic energy associated with blowing snow which may abrade soil and increase the erodible fraction.

The freeze-dry study had a laboratory and field component. Laboratory derived predictions estimated 31 freeze-dry cycles for the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates to reach 60% erodible fraction (EF), 9 cycles for the 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ aggregates and only 2 for the 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ aggregates. In a companion field study, freeze-dry cycles were estimated by calculating large vapour pressure (VPL) and small vapour pressure (VPS) gradients between the soil surface and the atmosphere. Predictions of number of freeze-dry cycles to reach the 60% EF were 60 for VPL and 37 for VPS.

DASD as quantified by EF and geometric mean diameter (GMD) was monitored for three winters on a different site each winter. Surface roughness was monitored at two of the sites. Regression analysis with time revealed a positive linear response for EF and an exponential decay for GMD for all three sites. Surface roughness regression response was an exponential decay over time for both sites. Timing and form of precipitation, which influence soil water content, were deemed the

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

major climatic factors in overwinter aggregate degradation leading to wind erosion risk.

Using a SENSITTM meter to measure kinetic energy and particle counts of blowing snow, preliminary results indicated that there is a large potential for abrasive action on soil by blowing snow.

A schematic flowchart summarizing the various processes and possible pathways leading to overwinter changes of aggregate size distributions of bare clay loam soils in southern Alberta is presented.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I extend my thanks to Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and particularly, Dr. C. Wayne Lindwall, Land Resources Section Head, for making possible the opportunity to return to university and for generously providing the facilities at the Lethbridge Research Centre to accomplish this research.

I also thank the Soil Quality Component of the Resource Monitoring Program of the Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (CAESA) Agreement for funding this research.

To my major academic advisors and mentors, Dr. Frank J. Larney, Dr. R. Cesar Izaurralde and Dr. Yongsheng Feng, for their constant encouragement, support, advice and constructive criticism throughout the course of this study.

To the other members of my graduate and examining committees, Drs. G. Peter Kershaw, James A. Robertson, Donald J. Pluth, David S. Chanasyk, Gerald Coen and William B. McGill for their time, counsel, advice, and critical review of this dissertation.

To my external examiner, Dr. Keith E. Saxton, for his critical and constructive review and invaluable comments.

To Drs. Sean M. McGinn, Chi Chang, Anne Smith, Tusheng Ren and Reynald Lemke for their wise advice and support throughout this work.

To the technicians and field crew in the Land Resources Section and particularly, Hugh D.J. McLean, Norma Sweetland, Susanne Braat, Stephanie Hamman, Edith Olson, Anthony Curtis and Clarence Gilbertson for their technical assistance, advice and support in carrying out this work.

To Toby Entz, for providing his time in giving wise and helpful statistical consultations and advice.

To our farmer cooperator, Mr. Ike Lanier for providing a field site to carry out this work.

To all the graduate students and support staff in the Department of Renewable Resources for their friendship and support over the course of my studies.

To Dr. W.D. Kemper, whose example, encouragement, wise counsel and influence, not only as a scientist, but as a man of integrity will never be forgotten.

To my mother, whose continued encouragement and support made completion of this project possible.

To my eternal companion, whose support and sacrifice provided the inspiration and courage for completion of this degree.

To the Father, Son and Holy Ghost, who provided the inspiration and the strength to endure and put me in the right place, at the right time, with good people that I might accomplish this work.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

CHAPTER 1		
General Introductio References	n	1 6
CUADTED 2		Ū
Freeze-drying proce southern Alberta	esses and wind erodibility of a clay loam soil in	10
2.1 Introduction	on	10
2.2 Material a	nd Methods	12
2.3 Results an	d Discussion	17
2.4 Conclusio	ns	24
2.5 Reference	S	25
CHAPTER 3 Overwinter changes southern Alberta	in wind erodibility of clay loam soils in	35
3.1 Introduction	n	35
3.2 Materials	and Methods	38
3.3 Results an	d Discussion	42
3.4 Conclusion	ns	51
3.5 References	8	52
CHAPTER 4 Preliminary results o of clay loam soils in s	on the role of blowing snow on wind erodibility southern Alberta	61
4.1 Introduction	n	61
4.2 Materials a	and Methods	63
4.3 Results and	d Discussion	64
4.4 References	3	67

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 5 Synthesis

5.1 Conclusions	73
5.2 Future Directions	78
5.3 References	79

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2-1. Effect of sampling date on erodible fraction (EF) of aggregates subjected to successive freeze-drying cycles at three water contents [means within soil water contents and cycles followed by the same	
letter are not significantly different from each other ($P < 0.05$, n=18)].	29
TABLE 3-1. Climatic variables and erodible fraction (EF) changes during"fall rain/snow", "winter snow" and "spring snow/rain" overwinterperiods at Fairfield (1992-93), Wilson (1993-94) and Lethbridge (1994-95) sites.	57
TABLE 4-1. Dates and duration of blowing snow and recorded kinetic energy and particle counts as measured by the SENSIT TM in 1993-94 at a 3.14 ha bare field site near the Lethbridge Research Centre.	69

•

LIST OF FIGURES

 Fig. 2-1. Effect of number of freeze-drying cycles on cumulative EF (aggregates <0.86 mm diameter) for 1.2- to 2.0-mm aggregates pre-wet to three water contents sampled on (a) 26 October 1993; (b) 11 January 1994; and (c) 29 April 1994 (error bars = ±1 std. error). 	30
Fig. 2-2. Relationships between number of freeze-dry cycles and erodible fraction (26 October 1993, 11 January 1994 and 29 April 1994 combined) for aggregates pre-wet to (a) 0.1 kg kg ⁻¹ ; (b) 0.2 kg kg ⁻¹ ; and (c) 0.3 kg kg ⁻¹ water contents (error bars = ±1 std. error).	31
Fig. 2-3. Hourly vapour pressure gradient estimates using the (a) large vapour pressure gradient (VPL) criteria; and (b) small vapour pressure gradient (VPS) criteria, and (c) volumetric water contents for the duration of the field study (0- to 2.5-cm depth).	32
Fig. 2-4. Relationship between erodible fraction and the cumulative number of freeze-dry cycles estimated by the large vapour pressure gradient (VPL) criteria.	33
Fig. 2-5. Relationship between erodible fraction and the cumulative number of freeze-dry cycles as estimated by the small vapour pressure gradient (VPS) criteria.	34
Fig. 3-1. Relationship between cumulative days from start of study in fall and geometric mean diameter (GMD) for (a) Fairfield (1992-93); (b) Wilson (1993-94) and (c) Lethbridge (1994-95) sites. For ease of interpretation the x-axis label is shown as date rather than cumulative days. Cumulative days are shown above or below data points. Day $1 = 18$ Sept. 1992 at Fairfield; 26 Oct. 1993 at Wilson and 30 Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. Error bars = ± 1 std. error.	58
Fig. 3-2. Relationship between cumulative days from start of study in fall and erodible fraction (EF) for (a) Fairfield (1992-93); (b) Wilson (1993-94) and (c) Lethbridge (1994-95) sites. For ease of interpretation the x-axis label is shown as date rather than cumulative days. Cumulative days are shown above or below data points. Day 1 = 18 Sept. 1992 at Fairfield; 26 Oct. 1993 at Wilson and 30 Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. Error bars = ±1 std. error.	59

Fig. 3-3. Relationship between cumulative days from start of study in fall on soil surface roughness (C_{par}) for (a) Wilson (1993-94) and (b) Lethbridge (1994-95) sites. For ease of interpretation the x-axis label is shown as date rather than cumulative days. Cumulative days are shown above or below data points. Day 1 = 26 Oct. 1993 at Wilson and 30	
Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. Error bars $\approx \pm 1$ std. error.	60
Fig. 4-1. Relationships between kinetic energy (pulses) for blowing snow and soil and (a) wind velocity and (b) air temperature on February 8 and 9, 1994.	70
Fig. 4-2. Observed and predicted kinetic energy pulses for blowing snow and soil with observed wind velocity for February 8 and 9, 1994.	71
Fig. 4-3. Relationships between (a) particle count (PC) and (b) kinetic energy per particle count (KE PC ⁻¹) and wind velocity for blowing snow and soil on February 8 and 9, 1994.	72
Fig. 5-1. Schematic of overwinter processes affecting wind erodibility of bare clay loam soils in southern Alberta (important processes are in bold italics).	81

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Wind erosion continues to be one of the main forms of soil degradation in the semi arid region of the Canadian prairies (Wall et al., 1995). On-site losses of organic matter and nutrient rich topsoil are the main cause of this degradation resulting in a decrease in soil productivity. There are also off-site impacts of wind erosion which affect air and water quality (Saxton, 1995; Cihacek; 1993; Zobeck and Fryrear, 1986). The majority of these impacts can be attributed to agricultural management systems and climatic effects.

Prediction of potential wind erosion losses for different field and climatic scenarios has been an ongoing challenge. In 1965, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) released the wind erosion equation (WEQ; Woodruff and Siddoway, 1965). It is an empirically based equation including only five factors and giving only annual soil losses for wind erosion. Adaptation of WEQ to account for temporal and spatial variability of wind erosion losses has had limited success and WEQ has been deemed mature or outdated technology (Hagen, 1991). Consequently the USDA is making efforts to develop a process based daily time step model called the Wind Erosion Prediction System (WEPS). WEPS is an integration of several submodels including weather generator, erosion, hydrology, crop growth, decomposition, tillage and soil (Hagen, 1991).

Temporal changes in dry aggregate size distribution (DASD) of the surface soil will be included in the soil submodel of WEPS (Zobeck, 1991). The DASD influences the level of wind erosion risk. Put simply, the higher the proportion of small aggregates, the higher the wind erosion risk. DASD is determined by sieving dry soil in a rotary sieve (Chepil, 1952). By measuring the amount of soil passing specified sieve diameters (usually six sieve cuts) the geometric mean diameter (GMD), or diameter at which 50 % of the sample weight passes, can be calculated (Gardner, 1956). Another useful measure, which can be derived from rotary sieve data, is the erodible fraction (EF, % aggregates by weight < 0.84 mm diam.). GMD has a nonlinear, inverse relationship with EF. Generally aggregates < 0.84 mm diameter are considered erodible and soils with an erodible fraction > 60% are considered high erosion risk (Chepil, 1942; Anderson and Wenhardt, 1966).

With the advent of the WEPS there is a need to model overwinter processes that might significantly contribute to soil losses by wind erosion. Prediction of temporal soil surface properties, such as DASD, from weather inputs is a major component of WEPS (Hagen, 1991).

Overwinter degradation of soil aggregates increases wind erosion risk, especially after conventional fallow, a common practice in the semiarid Canadian prairies (Larney et al., 1995). The process of soil freezing and thawing contributes to aggregate disruption and hence decreases GMD. In southern Alberta, overwinter changes in GMD for five fallow management systems on a clay loam soil were due to the climatic factors of cumulative snowfall, snow cover days, and degree of freezethaw activity (Larney et al., 1994). Increased snowfall and days of snow cover prevented aggregate breakdown while freeze-thaw cycles increased it. In North Dakota, Merrill et al. (1995) found significant relationships between the DASD and climatic factors such as number of snow cover days, number of freeze-thaw cycle days with no snow cover, and fall precipitation. From fall to spring, snow cover and fall precipitation increased GMD while the number of freeze-thaw cycles decreased GMD. For soils in Kansas and Texas, Chepil (1954) reported increases in erodibility from fall to spring for five soils ranging in texture from fine sandy loam to clay, with the greatest increases occurring on the finer-textured soils. Erodibility increases were attributed to the freezing of moist soil during winter, which caused the expansion of ice crystals within aggregates and subsequent shattering. The force exerted by freezing water in confined spaces (eg. soil pores) has been measured at 1465 Mg m⁻² (Brady, 1990).

In addition to freeze-thaw effects, freeze-drying also plays an important role in aggregate breakdown. Overwinter studies on a clay loam soil in Saskatchewan showed that bare soil surfaces exposed to freeze-thaw and freeze-dry cycles had greater aggregate breakdown than those protected by snow cover (Anderson and Bisal, 1969). In addition, exposed soils that were wetted at the start of the study were more vulnerable than dry exposed soils. Hinman and Bisal (1968) also found that freezedrying caused increased disruption of aggregates as soil wetness at time of freezing

increased. However, if these frozen aggregates were allowed to thaw before drying (i.e. evaporative-drying *vs.* freeze-drying) there was substantially less or no change in erodibility. Staricka and Benoit (1995) found similar relationships between moisture content of aggregates at time of freezing and freeze-drying. In addition there was also a positive relationship between aggregate size and freeze-dry disruption but freeze-thaw frequency and soil type had less effect. De Jong and Kachanoski (1988) concluded, after a study on soil freeze-drying in Saskatchewan, that the climatic conditions in the chinook belt of southern Alberta are highly conducive to freeze drying and commented that the frequent occurrence of dust storms in this region is not surprising.

Abrasion by blowing snow is another overwinter process that can contribute to aggregate breakdown (Bullock et al., 1992). Pomeroy et al. (1993) in modeling the transport and sublimation of snow, considered the saltation component of blowing snow. An earlier snow sublimation model developer noted that snowflakes become spherical shapes similar to sand as they are moved by wind and abraded (Schmidt, 1972).

These overwinter climatic and snow layer factors are prevalent in the chinook belt region in southern Alberta. Air temperatures can change as much as 40°C within one hour of the onset or ending of chinook conditions. There can be as many as 100 freeze-thaw cycles during the winter season because of temperature fluctuations caused by chinooks. In addition, the strong, dry winds (100-120 km hr⁻¹) associated

4

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

with chinook conditions will either sublimate snow or blow it into sheltered areas if temperatures are below 0°C. At temperatures above 0°C, chinook winds cause rapid evaporation and drying of the soil surface. The exposed soil is then vulnerable to freeze-thaw and freeze-dry processes. Chinook winds should initiate and promote a constant vapour pressure gradient for this evaporative- and freeze-drying to occur.

Regional cropping management systems also contribute to wind erosion risk. On dryland farms, the practice of mechanical fallowing for conservation of moisture leaves soil exposed to the elements as crop residues are buried and more rapidly decomposed. In addition, irrigation management systems for growing specialty row crops such as potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.), sugar beets (*Beta vulgaris* L.) and pulses (*Faba* spp., *Pisum* spp) encourages little or no residue conservation. Acreages of these crops are increasing in the irrigation districts of southern Alberta. Fall plowing and land preparation for these crops is preferred to reduce spring work loads leaving fields vulnerable to overwinter erosion risk.

The objective of this study was to further elucidate, in a temporal manner, overwinter processes affecting changes in DASD and hence wind erodibility. This would provide a framework towards prediction and quantification of wind erosion risk in southern Alberta. This dissertation discusses the results from three separate but related studies conducted during the three winter seasons (approximately September to May) of 1992-93, 1993-94 and 1994-95 on sites near or on the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre, Lethbridge, Alberta.

Chapter 2, 'Freeze-drying processes and wind erodibility of a clay loam soil in southern Alberta', verifies DASD changes of freeze-dried soil in a laboratory study and then estimates freeze-drying conditions and their relationships to DASD changes in the field.

Chapter 3, 'Overwinter changes in wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta', reports results from a three year study of overwinter temporal changes in DASD and surface roughness.

Chapter 4, 'Preliminary results of blowing snow and wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta', presents results of blowing snow energy measurements and particle counts at a wind erosion monitoring site and compares them with similar data for blowing soil.

Chapter 5, 'Synthesis', reviews the pertinent findings of the study and uses them to present a conceptual flowchart of the major pathways for overwinter DASD change. It also lists some recommendations for future research directions.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, C.H. and F. Bisal. 1969. Snow cover effect on the erodible soil fraction. Can. J. Soil Sci. 49:287-296.
- Anderson, C.H., and A. Wenhardt. 1966. Soil erodibility, fall and spring. Can. J. Soil Sci. 46:255-259.

Brady, N.C. 1990. The nature and properties of soils. Macmillan Publishing

Company, New York.

- Bullock, M.S., F. J. Larney, S.M. McGinn, and B.M. Olson. 1992. Influence of snow on wind erosion processes in the chinook belt of southern Alberta. p. 532-535. *In* Management of agriculture science. Proc. Soils Crops Workshop, Saskatoon. 20-21 Feb. 1992. Univ. of Saskatchewan Ext. Div., Saskatoon, SK.
- Chepil, W.S. 1942. Measurement of wind erosiveness by dry sieving procedure. Sci. Agr. 23:154-160.
- Chepil, W.S. 1952. Improved rotary sieve for measuring state and stability of dry soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 18:13-16.
- Chepil, W.S. 1954. Seasonal fluctuations in soil structure and erodibility of soil by wind. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 18:13-16.
- Cihacek, L.J., M.D. Sweeney and E.J. Deibert. 1993. Characterization of wind erosion sediments in the Red River Valley of North Dakota. J. Environ. Qual. 22:305-310.
 de Jong, E., and R.G. Kachanoski. 1988. Drying of frozen soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 68:807-811.
- Gardner, W.R. 1956. Representation of soil aggregate-size distribution by a logarithmic-normal distribution. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 20:151-153.
- Hagen, L.J. 1991. A wind erosion prediction system to meet user needs. J. Soil Water Cons. 46:106-111.
- Hinman, W.C., and F. Bisal. 1968. Alterations of soil structure upon freezing and thawing and subsequent drying. Can. J. Soil Sci. 48:193-197.

- Larney, F.J., M.S. Bullock, S.M. McGinn, and D.W. Fryrear. 1995. Quantifying wind erosion on summer fallow in southern Alberta. J. Soil Water Cons. 50(1):91-95.
- Larney, F.J., C.W. Lindwall, and M.S. Bullock. 1994. Fallow management and overwinter effects on wind erodibility in southern Alberta. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 58:1788-1794.
- Merrill, S.D., A.L. Black and T.M. Zobeck. 1995. Overwinter changes in dry aggregate size distribution influencing wind erodibility in a spring wheatsummerfallow cropping system. J. Minn. Acad. Sci. 59(2):27-36.
- Pomeroy, J.W., Gray, D.M. and Landine, P.G., 1993. The prairie blowing snow model: Characteristics, validation, operation. J. Hydrol., 144:165-192.
- Saxton, K.E. 1995. Wind erosion and its impact on off-site air quality in the Columbia plateau- an integrated research plan. Trans. ASAE 38(4):1031-1038.
- Schmidt, R.A., 1972. Sublimation of wind transported snow- A model. U.S. For. Serv. Rocky Mount. For. Range Exp. Stn., Res. Pap. RM-90, 24pp.
- Staricka J.A., and G.R. Benoit. 1995. Freeze-drying effects on wet and dry soil aggregate stability. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 59:218-223.
- Wall, G.J., E.A. Pringle, G.A. Padbury, H.W. Rees, J. Tajek, L.J.P. van Vliet, C.T. Stushnoff, R.G. Eilers, and J.-M. Cossette. 1995. Erosion. p. 61-76. *In* D.F. Acton and E.F. Gregorich (eds.) The health of our soils: toward sustainable agriculture in Canada. Publication 1906/E. Centre for Land and Biological Resources Research, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.

- Woodruff, N.P., and F.H. Siddoway. 1965. A wind erosion equation. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 29:602-608.
- Zobeck, T.M. 1991. Soil properties affecting wind erosion. J. Soil Water Cons. 46:112 118.
- Zobeck, T.M., and D.W. Fryrear. 1986. Chemical and physical characteristics of windblown sediment. II. Chemical characteristics and total soil nutrient discharge. Trans. ASAE 29:1037-1041.

Chapter 2

Freeze-drying processes and wind erodibility of a clay loam soil in southern Alberta¹

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Wind erosion is a major contributing factor to soil degradation on the Canadian prairies (Wall et al., 1995). Recently, the effects of wind erosion on offsite air quality have become a concern (Saxton, 1995). In northern climates, overwinter processes, such as wetting and drying, freezing and thawing, and freeze-drying influence soil aggregate size distribution and wind erosion risk (Larney et al., 1994). Overwinter studies on a clay loam soil in southwestern Saskatchewan showed greater increases in the <1 mm diameter soil fraction for exposed bare soil compared with surfaces insulated by snow or plastic (Anderson and Bisal, 1969). In addition, exposed soils wetted prior to freezing were more vulnerable to erosion than dry exposed soils.

Of the overwinter processes affecting soil aggregate breakdown and wind erodibility, freeze-drying has been documented in least detail. Freeze-drying occurs when the soil is exposed to a combination of the right climatic conditions: frozen soil surface, air temperatures of ~ 0°C, and high wind speeds (Aguirre-Puente and Sukwal, 1984; Lambrinos et al., 1987; de Jong and Kachanoski, 1988). High wind speeds reduce the boundary layer thickness and increase the drying potential (de Jong and Kachanoski, 1988).

Few field estimates of the impact of freeze-drying on aggregate size changes and wind erodibility have been reported (Anderson and Bisal, 1969). Most of the

¹ This chapter is published in the Canadian Journal of Soil Science 79:127-135.

information on aggregate size changes due to freeze-drying have been derived from laboratory studies (Hinman and Bisal, 1968; Staricka and Benoit, 1995). These studies have shown that soil water content at the time of freezing is an important factor influencing soil disruption on freeze-drying. Hinman and Bisal (1968) found a positive relationship between soil wetness at freezing and aggregate disruption on freezedrying. However, they noted that if frozen aggregates were allowed to thaw before freeze-drying there was substantially less, or no change in their susceptibility to wind erosion. Staricka and Benoit (1995) reported similar relationships between antecedent aggregate wetness and subsequent breakdown on freeze-drying. Additionally, they found that the amount of aggregate disruption was more related to aggregate size than freeze-thaw frequency and soil type. The method of drying after freezing, whether by sublimation or evaporation, is also important in increasing the erosive size fraction. This may explain the erratic changes in aggregate size distributions over monthly and yearly periods in southwestern Saskatchewan (Bisal and Ferguson, 1968; Bisal and Nielsen, 1964, 1967).

Climatic conditions in the chinook belt of southern Alberta are conducive to freeze-drying (Bisal and Nielsen, 1964). For freeze-drying to occur, at or near the soil surface, energy is needed to change ice to the vapour phase. In addition to the energy requirement, the vapour pressure above ice must be greater than that in air. A turbulent air flow over the surface helps mix the air and maintain a vapour pressure gradient (Oke, 1987).

Unfortunately, most research on freeze-drying of soil refers to temperature and relative humidity as separate entities rather than combining them to calculate the

partial pressure of water vapour (Huang and Aughenbaugh, 1987; Lambrinos et al., 1987; McKenna Neumann, 1990). Relative humidity is the ratio of actual water vapour in air to the saturated water vapour at a specific temperature. Because soil surface temperatures and air temperatures often differ, the assumption that relative humidity reflects the maximum gradient in water vapour between the soil and air may be invalid. Therefore, using vapour pressure gradient as the driving force for freezedrying is more appropriate than using relative humidity and temperature independently.

While the overwinter processes affecting wind erodibility (wetting and drying, freezing and thawing, freeze-drying) are inextricably linked, this paper attempts to isolate the freeze-drying effect on aggregate breakdown and wind erosion risk. A laboratory study examined the effect of soil water content on the production of wind erodible aggregates (<0.86 mm diameter) or erodible fraction (EF) after repeated freeze-dry cycles. In a companion overwinter field study on a clay loam soil in southern Alberta, the presence of a vapour pressure gradient was used to indicate the occurrence of freeze-drying which in turn was related to EF changes.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Laboratory study

Soil samples for the laboratory study were obtained on 26 October 1993 and 11 January and 29 April 1994 from a Dark Brown Chernozemic clay loam soil (organic carbon concentration of 17.2 g kg⁻¹ at 0-2.5 cm), 15 km south of the Agriculture and Agri-Food Research Centre at Lethbridge, Alberta (49° 43'N, 112° 48'W). The soil

was conventionally fallowed in 1993 with 4 passes of a heavy-duty cultivator (40-cm sweeps) but had been in a zero-tilled spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)-canola (*Brassica napus* L.)-winter wheat rotation for 8 yr previously. The 26 October 1993 samples were taken immediately after the last fallow tillage operation. On each sampling date, 5 kg of soil was collected with a flat shovel at approximately 10 m intervals along the same 200 m transect for a total of 18 samples. After air-drying, all samples were passed through an improved rotary sieve (Chepil, 1952). The 1.2-2.0 mm aggregate fraction was retained for laboratory analysis which involved three distinct steps: aggregate pre-wetting, freezing for 24 h and freeze-drying for 3 h.

Sub-samples (4 g) of the air-dry (0.02-0.045 kg kg⁻¹) 1.2-2.0 mm aggregates were placed into purpose-built cylindrical sieves (3.8 x 3.8 cm) that had 0.86-mmdiameter stainless screen soldered to the bottom. Chepil (1941, 1942) suggested that aggregates <0.84 mm were wind erodible, hence the sieve size was as close as possible to this value. The aggregates were pre-wet to 0.1, 0.2, or 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water contents with a mist humidifier and subjected to repeated freeze-dry cycles. These water contents were within the range of permanent wilting point and field capacity for the soil (Chang et al., 1990). Wetted aggregates were allowed to equilibrate at room temperature for 18 h.

Before freezing, the sieves were suspended upright in aluminum cans by means of cardboard collars, so that disrupted aggregates passed through the sieves and into the cans. The cans and sieves were placed in an insulated box containing a frozen ice-pack, the box was placed in a large plastic bag to prevent moisture loss, and the bag placed in a -40°C freezer chamber for 24 h.

After removal from the freezer, the samples were kept in the insulated box prior to placement in freeze-dryer flasks. The samples were then freeze-dried at a coil temperature of -45°C using a Freezone 4.5 freeze-dryer (Labconco Inc., Kansas City, MO) with the flasks evacuated to a pressure of at least 13.3 Pa for approximately 3 h.

After freeze-drying, the samples were gently sieved by hand until all disrupted aggregates <0.86 mm passed through to the cans. An erodible fraction (EF) was calculated by dividing the weight of aggregates passing through the sieve by the initial oven-dry weight of the sample. The aggregates retained on the 0.86 mm sieve were subjected to repeated cycles of pre-wetting, freezing and freeze-drying as outlined above. The erodible fraction was calculated after each cycle as the cumulative weight passing through the sieves over successive freeze-dry cycles.

Field Study

The field study was conducted at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre at Lethbridge, Alberta during the winter of 1994-95. The soil was a Dark Brown Chernozemic clay loam that had been in a spring wheat-fallow rotation since 1955 (Johnston et al., 1995). The selected plots had been fallowed in 1994 with three passes (24 May, 8 July, 30 August) of a one-way disk.

Air temperature and relative humidity sensors were installed on the site at 1 m height on 30 August 1994. A data logger algorithm (Campbell Scientific Ltd., Logan, UT) calculated saturated and actual vapour pressure using 5 s air temperature and relative humidity data, which were subsequently averaged for each hour. Since the actual vapour pressure at the soil surface was not measured, a maximum and a minimum value was estimated. Soil surface temperatures measured with an infrared thermometer (Model 4000A, Everest Interscience Inc., Fullerton, CA) were used to calculate the saturated surface vapour pressure which allowed an estimate of maximum vapour pressure. This maximum surface vapour pressure was based on the assumption that the soil matrix air is saturated under normal field conditions (Hillel, 1982). A minimum surface vapour pressure estimate was made using soil surface temperature and the 1-m ambient air relative humidity. In this latter calculation, the relative humidity in air is assumed to be equal to that at the surface even though the temperatures may not be, thus this represents a minimum surface vapour pressure.

With the assumption that the vapour pressure gradient is the main driving force behind the freeze-drying process, the vapour pressure gradient was determined by subtracting the soil surface vapour pressure from the ambient air vapour pressure. The largest vapour pressure gradient (VPL), was calculated by subtracting the maximum surface vapour pressure estimate from the ambient air vapour pressure. However, since an unknown boundary layer thickness and interstitial ice conditions could exist at the soil surface, the minimum vapour pressure estimate was subtracted from the ambient air vapour pressure allowing the smallest estimate of a vapour pressure gradient to be made (VPS). Realistically, the actual vapour pressure gradient would probably fall within the VPL and VPS extremes but was probably closer to the VPL (dependent on the aggregate size distribution at the surface, and wind conditions, which may increase or decrease the thickness of the boundary layer).

The VPL and VPS boundaries allowed us to test the sensitivity of calculating freeze-dry cycles under various field conditions. A freeze-dry cycle was defined by a

negative vapour pressure gradient period followed by a period of non-freeze-drying conditions characterized by snow cover, non-frozen soil or positive vapour pressure gradients. With our logging equipment freeze-drying cycles >1 h duration could be distinguished.

Snow depth was recorded daily at the Lethbridge Research Centre weather station, about 1 km from the study site. Gravimetric soil water content and bulk density (0-2.5 cm depth) were measured twice weekly (depending on snow cover) using a 7.5-cm diameter core. Soil gravimetric water contents were measured in 15-cm increments to a depth of 1.5 m with a truck mounted corer on 22 September 1994.

During the 1994-95 winter, dry aggregate size distribution (DASD) samples were taken with a flat shovel (0-2.5-cm depth, \sim 5 kg). Sampling interval varied, being dictated by the absence of snow cover. Two 6 x 20-m main plots (located 6 m apart) were each divided into twenty 6 x 1-m sub-plots. At each sampling time, five soil samples were taken from each of the two plots on randomly chosen sub-plots for a total of 10 DASD samples per sampling time. There were a total of 14 sampling times (i.e., 6 subplots not sampled) between 30 August 1994 and 24 May 1995.

All DASD samples were air-dried and passed through an improved rotary sieve (Chepil, 1952) with 38, 12.6, 7.1, 1.9, 1.2, and 0.47 mm diameter sieves. Since a 0.84 mm sieve was not used, EF (% of aggregates <0.84 mm diameter) was estimated from the regression equation of log of sieve size *vs*. cumulative fraction oversize as described by Larney et al. (1994).

Statistical Analyses

For the laboratory study, mean EF and standard errors were calculated for each freeze-dry cycle at each sample date and soil water content (n = 18). The general linear models (GLM) procedure (SAS Institute Inc., 1989) was used to determine differences in EF within the same water content and date (P < 0.05). Sample positions (n =18) in the field were considered replicates for this analysis. Least significance difference analysis was performed on the means. Mean EF and standard errors for combined dates at the same soil water content (n = 54) were also calculated. Regression analysis was performed for EF (combined dates at each water content) *vs.* the number of cycles (P < 0.05). An "analysis of residual variation" or analysis of variation of residuals (Mead and Curnow, 1983) was performed on EF data from each date for the 0.2 and 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates to justify combining data from all dates for regression analysis.

For the field study, mean EF and standard errors were calculated for each date (n=10) and the means regressed against the cumulative freeze-drying cycles (P < 0.05). Bartlett's test (Steel and Torrie, 1980) for homogeneity of EF variances was non-significant.

2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Laboratory study

The relationships between the number of freeze-drying cycles and EF for the three water contents and sampling dates are shown in Fig. 2-1. Anderson and Wenhardt (1966) reported that soils with >60% EF were prone to wind erosion and

hence this value has been illustrated as the erosion threshold (Fig. 2-1). For all three sampling dates, aggregates wetted to 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water content crossed the erosion threshold (60% EF) after 1-2 freeze-dry cycles (Figs. 2-1a-c). The 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates passed the erosion threshold after 8 freeze-dry cycles for all three dates (Figs. 2-1a-c). However, the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates were much slower in reaching the erosion threshold, with the 11 January samples eventually approaching the erosion threshold after 30 cycles (Fig. 2-1b). Due to time constraints the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ samples from October were terminated after only 8 freeze-dry cycles and the April samples after only 7 cycles.

This positive relationship between water content at time of freezing and aggregate disruption has also been reported by Hinman and Bisal (1968) in Saskatchewan. They found that when a clay was wet to -1.5 MPa water potential prior to freezing and freeze-drying, only 4.6% of aggregates >4 mm diameter were reduced to <1 mm in diameter. However, when the soil was wet to -0.03 MPa water potential, up to 28.5% of the aggregates were <1 mm diameter after freeze-drying. In comparison, the mean EF for all sampling dates after one freeze-dry cycle was 5.3% for aggregates pre-wet to 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content and 43.5% for those pre-wet to 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water content for our clay loam soil. However, our aggregates were initially 1.2-2.0 mm diameter rather than >4 mm while degree of disruption was measured as aggregates <0.86 mm diameter rather than <1 mm in the case of Hinman and Bisal (1968).

Aggregates sampled on 26 October 1993 and pre-wet to 0.2 and 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water contents were more resilient to the disruptive forces of the freeze-drying

compared with the 11 January and 29 April 1994 samples (Table 2-1). For example, October EF values were significantly lower (P < 0.05) than January values up to the seventh freeze-drying cycle, for aggregates pre-wet to 0.2 kg kg⁻¹. However, October aggregates pre-wet to 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ were more resilient than the January and April aggregates after the first freeze-drying cycle only. Bullock et al. (1988) showed that wet aggregate stability of silt loam soils in Idaho and Utah decreased from fall to spring and suggested that this was related to freeze-thaw cycles. Layton et al. (1993) noted an overwinter decrease in dry aggregate stability of a silt loam soil on clean tilled fields (residue buried) in Kansas. Stability decreases were attributed to substantial precipitation and frequent exposure to freeze-drying, freezing and thawing and wetting and drying processes. Other researchers have reported that freeze-drying alone does not alter inherent soil properties and that the surface of the soil particle is unchanged according to heat of immersion measurements (Bisal and Pelton, 1971).

In order to model the relationships between the number of freeze-dry cycles and EF for the different pre-wetting water contents, data from all three sampling dates were pooled (Fig. 2-2), except for the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates where only January samples were available. An exponential model described the relationship for the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates (Fig. 2-2a). From this equation, we calculated that 31.4 cycles were required to reach the erosion threshold of 60% EF.

An analysis of residual variation was performed on the 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates and this substantiated that there was no bias in combining the data from all dates for regression analysis (P < 0.05; Mead and Curnow, 1983). A linear

model proved the best fit for the 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ aggregates and we calculated that 9.3 cycles were necessary to reach the erosion threshold of 60% EF (Fig. 2-2b).

As with the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ aggregates, the relationship between the number of freeze-drying cycles and EF for the 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates was exponential (Fig. 2-2c). An analysis of residual variation on these data indicated that the three sampling dates should not be combined (P < 0.05). However, after observing differences of approximately 1% EF between observed and predicted values and an R² value of 0.99, we decided that this model was acceptable. The equation suggested that only 2 freeze-drying cycles were required to reach the erosion threshold of 60% EF.

Field Study

To quantify the occurrence of freeze-drying in the winter 1994-95 field study, not only was it necessary to estimate favourable vapour pressure gradients from meteorological data, we also had to assume that freeze-drying occurred only when favourable vapour pressure gradients were accompanied by a soil surface bare of snow cover and with a temperature <0 °C.

Using these criteria and the VPL gradient estimate, we calculated that under the specified boundary conditions, freeze-drying occurred in 133 distinct cycles ranging in duration from 1 to 104 h (Fig. 2-3a) with a cumulative total of 1142 h. All cycles occurred between 8 October 1994 and 13 May 1995 (a period of 5208 h). Therefore freeze-drying processes occurred for 21.9% of the elapsed time between these dates. The VPL values ranged from -1 to -427 Pa with a mean of -97 Pa (Fig. 2-3a).
Using the smaller vapour pressure gradient estimate (VPS), freeze-drying occurred in 59 cycles ranging in length from 1 to 76 h (Fig. 2-3b) with a cumulative total of 434 h. Freeze-drying occurred between 31 October 1994 and 8 April 1995 (3816 h) or 11.4% of the time between these dates. Values ranged from -1 to -331 Pa with a mean of -37 Pa (Fig. 2-3b). These values are substantially less compared to the values estimated using VPL criteria.

Previous investigators (Hinman and Bisal, 1968; Staricka and Benoit, 1995) as well as our laboratory results have shown that soil water content at freezing is an important factor influencing soil disruption by freeze-drying. Volumetric soil water contents for the 0-2.5-cm depth, taken 38 times over the VPL period (Fig. 2-3c), ranged from 0.18 m m⁻³ on 14 October 1994 to 0.05 m m⁻³ on 13 April 1995. The mean gravimetric water content over the VPL period was 0.10 kg kg⁻¹ with a mean bulk density of 0.98 Mg m⁻³. This soil water content is very close to the permanent wilting point of this soil (0.11 kg kg⁻¹, Chang et al., 1990) and identical to the 0.10 kg kg⁻¹ pre-wetting treatment we used for aggregates in the laboratory study. Our laboratory study showed that >30 freeze-drying cycles would be required to reach the erosion threshold of 60% EF at these low field water contents (Fig. 2-2a).

Volumetric soil water contents for the 0- to 2.5-cm depth were taken 27 times over the VPS period (Fig. 2-3c). Contents ranged from 0.15 m m⁻³ on 20 January 1995 to 0.06 m m⁻³ on 23 December 1994 and 31 March 1995. The mean gravimetric water content over the VPS period was 0.09 kg kg⁻¹ with a mean bulk density of 1.0 Mg m⁻³ which was similar to that estimated for the VPL period as well as to the permanent wilting point water content of this soil. Soil profile water contents taken to 1.5 m depth on 22 September 1994 averaged only 0.14 kg kg⁻¹, with the 15- to 30-cm depth having the highest water content (0.19 kg kg⁻¹)., Anderson and Bisal (1969) found that fall-irrigated soils are more prone to aggregate breakdown by freeze-drying than non-irrigated soils. Subsurface water can move upward toward a freezing front at the soil surface due to pressure and temperature gradients (Cary et al., 1979; Pikul and Allmaras, 1985). Accumulation of water, at or near the soil surface, accompanied by freezing at the freezing front could influence soil aggregation on freeze-drying. However, because of the dry profile conditions of the study soil, the amount of water available for migration to the surface as the soil cooled in the fall was minimal. The mean surface water content (0-2.5-cm depth) over the study period (0.10 kg kg⁻¹) was only about 0.04 kg kg⁻¹ less than the mean profile water content measured in the fall. This would indicate that surface soil water contents would not be conducive to extensive aggregate breakdown by freeze-drying.

A quadratic model best described the relationship between EF and cumulative freeze-drying cycles for both VPL (Fig. 2-4) and VPS (Fig. 2-5) scenarios. This was in contrast to the exponential relationship for the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ laboratory treatment and the linear relationship for the 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ laboratory treatment (Fig. 2-2). The flattening and possible downward trend of the quadratic prediction as spring approaches is probably due to processes other than freeze-drying. During this overwinter study we calculated 50 freeze-thaw cycles (based on -2° C air temperature for freeze and $+2^{\circ}$ C for thaw) (Bullock and Larney, 1997). There was also a positive relationship with EF and cumulative freeze-thaw cycles. Freeze-thaw process can be quite detrimental to wet aggregate stability (Bullock et al., 1988) and dry aggregate stability (Layton et al., 1993). In the spring, we observed that snowmelt and precipitation in the form of rainfall caused consolidation and crusting of low-stability surface aggregates, which would decrease the percent of erodible aggregates toward the end of the study.

Although the quadratic models fit our data best, the equations did not allow predictions for the erosion threshold of 60% EF. This was probably due to the small range of EF values available for development of the models (i.e., VPS and VPL EF ranged from 32.4 to 54.9%). Linear regressions were performed in order to allow comparison to the laboratory study and to make a prediction of the number of freeze-dry cycles that would be necessary to reach the wind erosion threshold of 60% EF (Figs. 2-4 and 2-5).

We estimated that 201 freeze-dry cycles were required to reach erosion threshold for VPL conditions and 89 for VPS conditions. These values are higher than the 31 estimated for the 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content aggregates in the laboratory study (Fig. 2-2a). This discrepancy may be due to additional sources of energy influencing the freeze-drying process.

Under laboratory conditions, energy for freeze-drying was provided as the freeze-dry flasks that contained the frozen soil were exposed to room temperatures (about 21°C). Under field conditions during the VPL period, air temperatures were >0°C for 25.3% of the time while the soil surface was <0°C. Energy was supplied for freeze-drying under these conditions and using this percentage value of 25.3, the predicted number of cycles required to reach erosion threshold dropped from 201 to 51, which is closer to the laboratory study prediction of 31. Since air temperatures

remained <0°C during freeze-drying cycles estimated using VPS, a similar adjustment could not be made.

Solar radiation is another energy source for freeze-drying. For the VPL estimate, freeze-drying occurred during daylight (0700-1700 h) for 29.7% of the time while it occurred during daylight for 41.0% of the time using the VPS estimate. The number of cycles required to reach erosion threshold dropped from 201 to 60 for the VPL estimate and from 89 to 37 using the VPS estimate if predictions are adjusted for the percentage of time freeze-drying was accompanied by solar radiation. The solar radiation adjustment for VPS conditions resulted in a cycle count of 37 which was very close to the 31 cycles predicted in the laboratory study (Fig. 2-2a).

2.4 CONCLUSIONS

A laboratory study conducted on clay loam soils in southern Alberta showed that water content of soil at time of freezing was a more important factor in soil aggregate disruption than the sampling date. However, fall-sampled aggregates were slightly more resilient to disruption when exposed to freeze-drying, than those sampled in winter or spring. Exponential relationships between cumulative freeze-dry cycles and EF were found for aggregates that were cyclically wet to 0.1 and 0.3 kg kg⁻¹, frozen and freeze-dried. A linear relationship was found for aggregates wet to 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ water content. The number of freeze-drying cycles required for aggregates to reach the erosion threshold of 60% EF was 31.2 for aggregates pre-wet to 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ water content, 9.3 cycles for those pre-wet to 0.2 kg kg⁻¹, and 1.7 cycles for those pre-wet to 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water contents. Dry soils (0.1 kg kg⁻¹) subjected to sufficient

freeze-drying cycles (>30) eventually reached an erosion threshold. This finding has implications for wind erosion risk of arid and semi-arid soils of the Canadian prairie and northern Great Plains.

In a companion field study, we established quadratic relationships between EF and cumulative freeze-dry cycles. However, it was necessary to use linear relationships to make comparisons with laboratory findings for the number of cycles needed to reach the erosion threshold. By distinguishing periods where energy inputs from air temperatures >0°C or solar radiation accompanied favourable vapour pressure gradients, the estimates of freeze-dry cycles were close to laboratory predictions. Our study demonstrates the importance of freeze-drying as a mechanism in the aggregate breakdown and wind erosion risk of soils on the Canadian Prairies and the northern Great Plains. It also confirms that freeze-drying should be included as a factor in future wind erosion prediction models.

2.5 REFERENCES

- Aguirre-Puente, J. and R.N. Sukwal. 1984. Sublimation of ice in frozen dispersed media. *In* Proceedings of the Third International Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering Symposium, New Orleans, Louisiana, February 12-17. Am. Soc. Mech. Eng. 3: 38-44.
- Anderson, C.H. and F. Bisal. 1969. Snow cover effect on the erodible soil fraction. Can. J. Soil Sci. 49: 287-296.
- Anderson, C.H. and A. Wenhardt. 1966. Soil erodibility, fall and spring. Can. J. Soil Sci. 46: 255-259.

- Bisal, F. and W.S. Ferguson. 1968. Monthly and yearly changes in aggregate size of surface soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 48: 159-164.
- Bisal, F. and K.F. Nielsen. 1964. Soil aggregates do not necessarily break down overwinter. Soil Sci. 98: 345-346.
- Bisal, F. and Nielsen, K.F. 1967. Effect of frost action on the size of soil aggregates. Soil Sci. 104: 268-272.
- Bisal, F. and Pelton, W.L. 1971. Effect of freeze-drying on the surface properties of soils as measured by the heat of immersion. Can. J. Soil Sci. 51: 229-233.
- Bullock, M.S. and Larney, F.J. 1997. Relationships between the wind erodible fraction and freeze-thaw cycles in southern Alberta. CAESA Soil Quality Program, Research Factsheet CSQ09, Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development, Conservation and Development Branch, Edmonton, AB. 6 pp.
- Bullock, M.S., Kemper, W.D. and Nelson, S.D. 1988. Soil cohesion as affected by freezing, water content, time and tillage. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 52: 770-776.
- Cary, J., Papendick, R.I. and Campbell, G.S. 1979. Water and salt movement in unsaturated frozen soil: Principles and field operations. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 48: 38.
- Chang C., Sommerfeldt, T.G., Entz, T. and Stalker, D.R. 1990. Long-term soil moisture status in southern Alberta. Can. J. Soil Sci. 70: 125-136.
- Chepil, W.S. 1941. Relation of wind erosion to the dry aggregate structure of a soil. Sci. Agr. 21: 488-507.
- Chepil, W.S. 1942. Measurement of wind erosiveness of soils by dry sieving procedure. Sci. Agr. 23: 154-160.

- Chepil, W.S. 1952. Improved rotary sieve for measuring state and stability of dry soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 16: 113-117.
- de Jong, E. and Kachanoski, R.G. 1988. Drying of frozen soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 68:807-811.
- Hillel, D. 1982. Introduction to soil physics. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA.Hinman, W.C. and Bisal, F. 1968. Alterations of soil structure upon freezing and thawing and subsequent drying. Can. J. Soil Sci. 48: 193-197.
- Huang, S.L. and Aughenbaugh, N.B. 1987. Sublimation of pore ice in frozen silt. J. Cold Reg. Eng. 1: 171-181.
- Johnston, A.M., Larney, F.J. and Lindwall, C.W. 1995. Spring wheat and barley response to long-term fallow management. J. Prod. Agric. 8: 264-268.
- Lambrinos, G., Aguirre-Puente, J. and Sakly, M. 1987. Experimental research on the sublimation of ice samples. Annales Geophysicae 5B(6): 589-594.
- Larney, F.J., C.W. Lindwall and M.S. Bullock. 1994. Fallow management and
 Overwinter effects on wind erodibility in southern Alberta. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.
 58: 1788-1794.
- Layton, J.B., Skidmore, E.L. and Thompson, C.A. 1993. Winter-associated changes in dry-soil aggregation as influenced by management. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57:1568-1572.
- McKenna Neuman, C. 1990. Role of sublimation in particle supply for aeolian transport in cold environments. Geografiska Annaler 72: 329-335.
- Mead, R. and Curnow, R.N. 1983. Statistical methods in agriculture and experimental biology. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY.

Oke, T.R. 1987. Boundary layer climates. 2nd ed. Routledge, New York, NY.

- Pikul, J.L. and Allmaras, R.R. 1985. Hydraulic potential in an unfrozen soil in response to diurnal freezing and thawing. Trans. ASAE 28: 164-168.
- SAS Institute Inc. 1989. SAS/STAT User's Guide. Version 6. 4th ed. Vol. 2. SAS Institute, Cary, NC.
- Saxton, K.E. 1995. Wind erosion and its impact on off-site air quality in the Columbia plateau- an integrated research plan. Trans. ASAE 38: 1031-1038.
- Staricka, J.A. and Benoit, G.R. 1995. Freeze-drying effects on wet and dry soil aggregate stability. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 59: 218-223.
- Steel, R.G.D. and Torrie, J.H. 1980. Principles and procedures of statistics. McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Wall, G.J., Pringle, E.A., Padbury, G.A., Rees, H.W., Tajek, J., van Vliet, L.J.P.,
 Stushnoff, C.T., Eilers, R.G. and Cossette, J.-M. 1995. Erosion. pages 61-76. *in*D.F Acton and L.J. Gregorich (eds.), The health of our soils: towards sustainable
 agriculture in Canada. Centre for Land and Biological Resources Research,
 Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, Ontario. Publication 1906/E.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			Erodible frac	tion, EF (%)					
	Water content									
Cycle	0.1 kg kg ⁻¹			0.2 kg kg ⁻¹			0.3 kg kg ⁻¹			
	Oct. 26/93	Jan. 11/94	Apr. 29/94	Oct. 26/93	Jan. 11/94	Apr. 29/94	Oct. 26/93	Jan. 1 1/94	Apr. 29/94	
1	2.8c	5.2b	8.1a	3.8c	7.7a	5.8b	40.2Ъ	44.3a	46.1a	
2	5.2c	8,5b	12,2a	6.3b	18.7a	16,5a	67.0a	65.9a	66.2a	
3	6.9c	10.5b	15.2a	8,7b	21.2a	19.2a	79.3a	77.3a	78.0a	
4	11.5b	12.5b	18.6a	15.7b	26.6a	23.8a	86.6a	83.2b	82.4b	
5	14.5b	14.4b	20.6a	23.6b	32.3a	27.7ab	91.3a	87.2b	86.0b	
6	17.7b	16.2b	24.0a	29.6b	36.8a	34.9a	-	-	-	
7	20.8b	19.4b	29.1a	39.6b	42.3ab	46.7a		-	-	
8	-	-	-	53.7a	53.3a	57.5a		-	-	
9	-	-	-	64.1a	63.3a	63.2a		-	-	

Table 2-1. Effect of sampling date on erodible fraction (EF) of aggregates subjected to successive freeze-drying
cycles at three water contents [means within soil water contents and cycles followed by the same letter are not
significantly different from each other ($P < 0.05$, n=18)]



Fig. 2-1. Effect of number of freeze-drying cycles on cumulative EF (aggregates <0.86 mm diameter) for 1.2- to 2.0-mm aggregates pre-wet to three water contents sampled on (a) 26 October 1993; (b) 11 January 1994; and (c) 29 April 1994 (error bars = ± 1 std. error).



Fig. 2-2. Relationships between number of freeze-dry cycles and erodible fraction (26 October 1993, 11 January 1994 and 29 April 1994 combined) for aggregates pre-wet to (a) 0.1 kg kg⁻¹; (b) 0.2 kg kg⁻¹; and (c) 0.3 kg kg⁻¹ water contents (error bars = ± 1 std. error).



Fig. 2-3. Hourly vapour pressure gradient estimates using the (a) large vapour pressure gradient (VPL) criteria; and (b) small vapour pressure gradient (VPS) criteria, and (c) volumetric water contents for the duration of the field study (0- to 2.5-cm depth).



Fig. 2-4. Relationship between erodible fraction and the cumulative number of freezedry cycles estimated by the large vapour pressure gradient (VPL) criteria.



Fig. 2-5. Relationship between erodible fraction and the cumulative number of freezedry cycles as estimated by the small vapour pressure gradient (VPS) criteria.

Chapter 3

Overwinter changes in wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta¹ 3.1 INTRODUCTION

Wind erosion is one of the main forms of soil degradation in the semiarid region of the Canadian prairies (Wall et al., 1995). The associated loss of organic matter and nutrient-rich topsoil results in a decrease in soil productivity (Larney et al., 1998). Additionally, off-site effects of wind erosion may impact air and water quality (Cihacek et al., 1993; Larney et al., 1999; Saxton, 1995).

Merrill et al. (1999) defined soil wind erodibility as the tendency of surface soil to resist or be vulnerable to being transported by wind. Both soil and plant factors contribute in the estimation of wind erodibility risk for any particular environment. The soil factors include inherent wind erodibility, soil surface roughness, and soil wetness while the plant factors include surface cover of the soil by living plants and their residues as well as the vertical effect of standing plants or residues (Merrill et al., 1999).

Dry aggregate size distribution (DASD), and soil surface roughness are important indicators of wind erodibility (Zobeck, 1991) and are influenced by management (tillage, cropping) and climatic factors (freeze-thaw, wetting-drying, freeze-drying). Overwinter breakdown of soil aggregates increases wind erosion risk, especially after conventionally-tilled fallow (heavy-duty cultivator, disk harrow), a

^{&#}x27;This chapter has been accepted for publication in the March-April 2001 Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Journal

common practice that leads to low crop residue levels or bare soils on the semi-arid Canadian prairies (Larney et al., 1995).

In southern Alberta, overwinter changes in DASD on five fallow management systems of a clay loam soil were related to climatic factors such as cumulative snowfall, snow cover days, and degree of freeze-thaw activity (Larney et al., 1994). Increased snowfall and snow cover days reduced aggregate breakdown while increased freeze-thaw cycles stimulated aggregate breakdown. In North Dakota, Merrill et al. (1995) found that climatic factors influenced DASD more than tillage treatments in a spring wheat-fallow cropping system. They found significant relationships between DASD and climatic factors such as number of snow cover days, number of freezethaw cycle days with no snow cover and fall precipitation. From fall to spring, snow cover and fall precipitation increased aggregate GMD while the number of freeze-thaw cycles decreased GMD. Furthermore, Merrill et al. (1999) reported that crop rotation, and sampling date were significant sources of variation in DASD while tillage effects were non-significant.

In Kansas and Texas, Chepil (1954) reported increases in erodibility from fall to spring for five soils ranging in texture from fine sandy loam to clay, with greatest increases on the finer textured soils. Erodibility increases were attributed to the freezing of moist soil during winter which caused expansion of ice crystals within aggregates and subsequent shattering.

Layton et al. (1993) discussed overwinter climatic processes and DASD changes for three tillage systems with different amounts of residue cover in Kansas.

Precipitation was the driving force behind DASD changes. However, precipitation effects were also influenced by residue amounts. A zero till treatment showed the most consistent fall- spring decrease in GMD, even though the high residue cover was thought to have decreased freeze-thaw and freeze-dry effects. Conversely, overwinter studies on a clay loam soil in Saskatchewan showed that bare soil surfaces exposed to freeze-thaw and freeze-drying cycles were more vulnerable to breakdown than those protected by snow cover (Anderson and Bisal, 1969).

Surface roughness is closely associated with DASD and was identified as a governing principle of erosion risk by Chepil (1950), who concluded that the degree of surface roughness is related to the size, shape, distribution and proportion of surface projections present as non-erodible aggregates. Römkens and Wang (1986) scaled field roughness into 4 classes including that due to individual particles or aggregates of 0-2 mm diameter; surface variations or random roughness on the order of 10 cm diameter; tillage or oriented roughness in the range of 10-30 cm diameter and roughness on a field topography scale. Large clods and tillage ridges perpendicular to the prevailing wind are effective for erosion control (Fryrear, 1984).

Zobeck and Onstad (1987) reviewed the many devices for measuring soil roughness along with the various indices used to summarize the data. Potter and Zobeck (1990) and Potter et al. (1990) developed a microrelief or surface roughness index that estimated microrelief effects on soil susceptibility to wind erosion. Most methods for measuring soil roughness have used pin meters but recently a roller chain method was developed by Saleh (1993). The advantages and disadvantages of using

the roller chain method have been discussed (Merrill, 1998; Saleh, 1997; Skidmore, 1997).

Previous research on overwinter effects on DASD has consisted of only fall and spring sampling (Larney et al., 1994; Layton et al., 1993; Merrill et al., 1995). This type of two-point sampling precludes the development of equations to predict relationships between aggregate size changes and climatic variables. Since overwinter change in DASD and surface roughness are dynamic phenomena, this study was initiated to monitor overwinter changes in these parameters and determine relationships between these changes and climatic variables for three clay loam soils in southern Alberta.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Sites

The study was conducted over three consecutive winters (1992-93, 1993-94, 1994-95) near Lethbridge, Alberta (49° 43' N, 112° 48' W). The mean annual precipitation (1902-98) at Lethbridge is 402 mm and the mean January temperature is -8.6°C. A different site was selected each winter. All study soils were Dark Brown Chernozemic clay loams (fine-loamy, mixed, Typic Haploborolls).

The Fairfield site (1992-93) was located 6 km east of Lethbridge. The 0-2.5 cm soil layer contained 39% sand, 28% silt, 33% clay and 17 g kg⁻¹ organic carbon. Silage barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) was grown on the site from 1989-1991 using conventional tillage (heavy-duty cultivator, disk harrow). In 1992, the site was

fallowed with herbicides and one pass of a wide-blade cultivator. Stubble residue was pulverized by a severe hail storm in August 1992. On 18 Sep. 1992, a 20 x 20 m plot was chisel-ploughed to a 12-cm depth. This resulted in a ridged, roughened surface with negligible residue cover. The Wilson site (1993-94) was located 15 km south of Lethbridge. The soil contained 35% sand, 31% silt, 34% clay, and 17.2 g kg⁻¹ organic carbon in the 0-2.5 cm layer. The site had been continuously cropped under no-till since 1984. Spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) was grown in 1992. From May-August 1993, a 200 m diameter circle (3.14 ha) was conventionally fallowed with three passes (11 May, 28 June, 2 August) of a heavy-duty cultivator equipped with a hydraulically-driven rod weeder. A final pass with a heavy-duty cultivator, rod weeder and tine harrows to a depth of 8 cm was conducted on 26 Oct. 1993 resulting in minimal surface residue.

The Lethbridge site (1994-95) was located 1 km north of Lethbridge and the soil contained 41% sand, 27% silt, 32% clay, and 15 g kg⁻¹ organic carbon in the surface 7.5 cm layer. The site had been in a spring wheat-fallow rotation since 1955 (Johnston et al., 1995). It was cropped in 1993 and fallowed in 1994 with three passes (24 May, 8 July, 30 August) of a one-way disk.

Dry Aggregate Size Distribution

At all three sites, 5 kg of soil was sampled from the 0-2.5 cm depth with a flat shovel for DASD analysis. Sampling interval varied, being dictated by the absence of snow cover. At the Fairfield site, the 20 x 20 m chisel-plowed plot was divided into twenty 1-m-wide x 20-m-long sub-plots for DASD sampling. A different sub-plot was randomly chosen on each of 15 sampling dates between 18 Sep. 1992 and 12 May 1993. Ten sub-samples were taken at each sampling date.

At the Wilson site, samples for DASD were taken on 9 dates between 26 Oct. 1993 and 29 Apr. 1994. Locations were at 10 m intervals along a 200 m west-east transect on the circular plot for a total of 20 sub-samples per sampling date.

At the Lethbridge site, two 6 x 20 m plots were each divided into twenty 1-mwide x 6-m-long sub-plots. A different sub-plot on each of the two plots was randomly chosen on each of 14 sampling dates between 30 Aug. 1994 and 24 May 1995. Five DASD samples were taken from each of the sub-plot for a total of 10 per sampling date.

All DASD samples were air-dried and passed through an improved rotary sieve (Chepil, 1952) with 38, 12.6, 7.1, 1.9, 1.2, and 0.47 mm diameter sieves. DASD was expressed as geometric mean diameter (GMD), the aggregate diameter at which 50% of the sample weight passed (Gardner, 1956), and erodible fraction (EF), the percent of aggregates <0.84 mm diameter. Since a 0.84 mm sieve was not used, EF was calculated by substituting 0.84 into the regression equation for cumulative percent passing *vs.* log of sieve size. GMD has a non-linear, inverse relationship to EF.

Generally, aggregates <0.84 mm diameter are erodible by wind, and soils with an EF >60% are considered at relatively high erosion risk (Chepil, 1941, 1942).

Soil Surface Roughness

Soil surface roughness parallel to the direction of tillage or random roughness (C_{par}) , which is roughness caused by aggregates only, was measured at the Wilson and Lethbridge sites, by the chain method of Saleh (1993) using a 1-m roller chain with 0.95-cm links. This method expresses roughness as a percentage value (Cr) as calculated in Eq. [1]:

$$Cr = (1 - L1/L2) \times 100$$
 [1]

where L1 is the horizontal distance (m) between the ends of the chain lying on the soil surface and L2 is the length of the chain (Saleh, 1993). Zero percent is considered a perfectly flat surface. Roughness perpendicular to tillage (C_{per}), which includes roughness associated with both tillage operations (oriented roughness) and aggregates, was also measured. However, C_{per} data are not reported as values were similar to C_{par} values, since there were no obvious tillage ridges at the three sites.

In fall, 10 positions were randomly chosen for soil surface roughness measurements at the Wilson site, and 12 at the Lethbridge site. These positions were permanently marked and visited on each measurement date. C_{par} was measured 11 times at the Wilson site between 26 Oct. 1993 and 10 May 1994 and 14 times at the Lethbridge site between 30 Aug. 1994 and 24 May 1995. Soil roughness was measured when there was no snow cover.

Climatic Variables

Mean hourly air temperature (1 m height) was measured on each site, commencing on 23 Oct. 1992 at Fairfield, 1 Nov. 1993 at Wilson, and 30 Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. From air temperature data, the number of freeze-thaw cycles was determined for all days and for days without snow cover. Cutoffs of -2°C for freezing and +2°C for thawing were used to estimate the number of soil freeze-thaw cycles. Rainfall, snowfall, snow depth and total precipitation were measured at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre weather station, located approximately 5 km from the Fairfield site, 15 km from the Wilson site and 1 km from the Lethbridge site. A trace of snow constituted a snow cover day.

Statistical Analysis

Mean GMD, EF and C_{par} values and standard errors were calculated for each sampling date. For all three sites, regression analysis (SAS Institute Inc., 1989) was performed between the mean values of the dependent variables GMD and EF and cumulative days from initiation of the study. For the Wilson and Lethbridge sites a similar regression was performed with C_{par} as the dependent variable.

3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Geometric Mean Diameter

All three sites showed a general decline in geometric mean diameter (GMD) with cumulative days from initial fall sampling (Figs. 3-1a-c). An exponential model

described the relationship at all sites with R^2 values (P = 0.05) of 0.57 for Fairfield, 0.97 for Wilson and 0.79 for Lethbridge. The Fairfield site (1992-1993) recorded the lowest initial GMD value post fall-tillage (1.88 mm) and also the lowest GMD of the study (0.08 mm, 22 Apr. 1993).

An increase in GMD occurred at the Fairfield site midway through the study (Fig. 3-1a). Snowmelt (about 8 cm of snow depth) followed by evaporative drying allowed the saturated soil surface to crust by the 1 Feb. 1993 sampling date. DASD sampling of a crusted soil surface created clods of considerable size, strong enough to resist breakdown during rotary sieving, which increased GMD. Soils in northern climatic zones are prone to crusting during winter, due to a decline in wet aggregate stability from fall to spring caused by freeze-thaw cycles (Bullock et al., 1988). Merrill et al. (1995) also reported increases in GMD after snowmelt in spring. However, climatic conditions during February and March 1993 allowed GMD to return to pre-crusting values (Fig. 3-1a). The decline in GMD after surface crusting followed a similar pattern to the post-tillage decline in the fall (Fig. 3-1a). If the 1 February value is treated as an outlier and deleted, the R² value of the exponential relationship increased to 0.73 (P = 0.05).

At the Wilson site, GMD ranged from a maximum of 9.05 mm after fall tillage (26 Oct. 1993) to a minimum of 1.17 mm (14 Mar. 1994). Although the maximum and minimum GMD values were greater than those of the other study sites, the decline in GMD over time was greater than at the other sites, as denoted by the different form of exponential equation (Fig. 3-1b).

At the Lethbridge site, GMD ranged from 4.71 mm after fall tillage (30 Aug. 1994) to 0.80 mm (17 May 1995). Although the maximum fall GMD value at the Lethbridge site was much lower than that at the Wilson site (4.71 vs. 9.05 mm), minimum GMD values in spring were quite similar (0.80 vs. 1.17 mm). This demonstrates that similar levels of erosion risk may exist in spring on two soils that had widely different DASD values in the previous fall.

Erodible Fraction

All sites showed a general increase in erodible fraction (EF) from post-tillage values in fall to final values in spring (Figs. 3-2a-c). Linear regressions of EF data with cumulative days from initial fall sampling resulted in R^2 values (P = 0.05) of 0.57 for the Fairfield site, 0.91 for the Wilson site and 0.62 for the Lethbridge site. EF ranged from a minimum value of 12.6% (26 Oct. 1993, Wilson site) to a maximum of 74% (22 Apr. 1992, Fairfield site). Anderson and Wenhardt (1966) determined that soils with EF values >60% were generally erodible by wind. This threshold level was exceeded at the Fairfield site only from 4 Dec. 1992-1 Feb. 1993 and from 3 March-12 May 1993. Like the GMD data, EF data from the Fairfield site reflected the effects of surface crusting with a large decrease in the EF on 1 Feb. 1993. However, EF values rapidly returned to pre-crusting values (Fig. 3-2a). If the EF value for 1 February is deleted, the R² value for the linear regression increased from 0.57 to 0.68 (P = 0.001).

Linear regression intercepts were 15.4 for Wilson, 33.6 for Lethbridge, and 42.2 for Fairfield indicating that the Wilson site was least erodible at initial fall

sampling. Regression slopes ranged from 0.06 for Lethbridge, to 0.12 for Fairfield and 0.18 for Wilson. These values indicate that the rate of increase in EF over time varied from 0.06-0.18% d⁻¹. The Wilson soil, with the lowest initial EF in fall, showed the fastest overwinter increase in EF. Also, the Fairfield site, which had the highest EF in fall did not have the slowest overwinter increase in EF.

Soil Surface Roughness

Soil surface roughness (C_{par}) values for the Wilson site (Fig. 3-3a) ranged from 15.1 (26 Oct. 1993) to 3.7% (30 Mar. 1994). C_{par} values for the Lethbridge site (Fig. 3-3b) ranged from 14.4 (30 Aug. 1994) to 3.3% (19 Apr. 1995). Both sites exhibited an overwinter smoothing trend following the rough conditions created by fall tillage. Merrill et al. (1999) reported a range of C_{par} from 12.5-3.1% for a low residue till (<10% residue cover) spring wheat-fallow study in North Dakota which was very similar to the ranges found at our sites.

The relationships between C_{par} and cumulative time since the start of each overwinter study were described by exponential equations which had R^2 values (P =0.05) of 0.98 for Wilson and 0.91 for Lethbridge (Figs. 3a-b). Although the initial fall values of C_{par} were similar at each site, the dates of last fall tillage were quite different (26 October for Wilson, 30 August for Lethbridge). However, roughness at both sites declined at similar rates before the rate of smoothing slowed. At the Wilson site, roughness declined from 15.1 to 5.1% between 26 Oct. 1993 and 15 Feb. 1994, a period of 112 d. Roughness at the Lethbridge site declined from 14.4 to 4.3% between 30 August and 19 Dec. 1994, a period of 111 d.

Climatic Variables and Wind Erodibility Changes

The total number of freeze-thaw cycles, using the air temperature cutoffs of +2°C for thawing and -2°C for freezing, was 54 for Fairfield in 1992-93, 65 for Wilson in 1993-94 and 50 for Lethbridge in 1994-95 (Table 3-1). The number of cycles on days with no snow cover was 45 for Fairfield, 58 for Wilson, and 39 for Lethbridge. Therefore, soils were exposed to 78-89% of the total freeze thaw cycles occurring over the study periods. The freeze-thaw and EF data were grouped into three periods based on the timing and form of precipitation (Table 3-1). The first or "fall rain/snow" period started at the beginning of the study and ended after the last rainfall event in fall although precipitation may have been in the form of rain or snow during this period. The greatest increase in erodibility during the "fall rain/snow" period was at the Fairfield site (+7.4% change in EF, Table 3-1). This site also had the most freeze-thaw cycles (7) and 60.4 mm of total precipitation (Table 3-1). The Wilson site had an intermediate increase in EF (+4.1%), less freeze-thaw cycles (5) than Fairfield, but the least cumulative precipitation at only 7.0 mm. The Lethbridge site had the smallest increase in EF (+1.1%) with zero freeze-thaw cycles, but had the greatest cumulative precipitation (83.0 mm). These findings demonstrate that erodibility increases during this "fall rain/snow" period were greatest when a combination of high precipitation and a high number of freeze-thaw cycles existed. Ice expansion in inter- and intra-

aggregate pores helped aggregate breakdown (Chepil, 1954), and as air and soil temperatures fell below freezing and the "winter snow" period approached, the reversal of this disruptive process may not have been possible (Bullock et al., 1988).

The second or "winter snow" period represented the time from the last rainfall event in fall to the first rainfall event in spring when all precipitation fell as snow (Table 3-1). For all three sites the "winter snow" period produced the largest increases in EF (Table 3-1). The Wilson site showed the largest increase in erodibility (+25.1%) and had over twice the number of freeze-thaw cycles without snow cover (40 *vs*.18) as the other two sites. Previous studies have shown a positive correlation between freeze-thaw cycles and EF increases (Larney et al., 1994; Merrill et al., 1995). Additionally, the higher snowfall amount at the Wilson site (82.4 mm) compared to the other sites (42-43 mm) may have allowed greater wetting of the soil surface during the thaw periods, leading to greater soil disruption upon subsequent freezing.

The Fairfield and Lethbridge sites had similar snowfall amounts and numbers of freeze-thaw cycles (Table 3-1), but the Lethbridge site had a larger increase in EF compared to Fairfield (+17.0 vs. +11.2). Other processes such as freeze-drying of the soil surface or soil abrasion by blowing snow (Bullock et al., 1992, 1999; de Jong and Kachanoski, 1988) may have contributed to this difference.

The third and final period was the "spring snow/rain" period which represented the time from the first rainfall event in spring and included precipitation as snow and rain until the end of each study year (Table 3-1). During the "spring snow/rain"

period, only the Fairfield and Wilson sites showed increases in EF and these increases were the smallest of all three overwinter periods.

The Lethbridge site showed a decrease (-9.2%) in EF for this period which may be related to the high amount of total precipitation (155.7 mm) and a daily maximum rainfall of 24.4 mm. Most of the precipitation (78%) during this period at the Lethbridge site was in the form of spring rain near the end of the study (May) when the frequency of freeze-thaw cycles was declining. We believe this precipitation caused saturation of the soil surface, slaking of aggregates and soil crusting as reported by Kemper et al. (1987) and Uehara and Jones (1974). In addition, Anderson and Wenhardt (1966) found that a clay loam soil had a lower EF in spring than the previous fall in 5 out of 7 yr and attributed this to a positive correlation with precipitation. The reduced frequency of freeze-thaw cycles at this time of year also decreased soil disruption. Similar decreases in EF did not occur at Fairfield and Wilson as total precipitation amounts were lower than at Lethbridge for the "spring snow/rain" period (Table 3-1).

At the Lethbridge site, even though the "winter snow" and the "spring snow/rain" periods had similar numbers of freeze-thaw cycles (26 vs. 24, Table 3-1), total precipitation in the "winter snow" period was only 23% of that in the "spring snow/rain" period. Trends in erodibility were quite different with the "winter snow" period showing a large increase (+17.0% change in EF) and the "spring snow/rain" period showing a decrease (-9.2% change in EF). This illustrates that the type and

amount of precipitation, rather than the number of freeze thaw cycles, is an important factor in the magnitude and direction of erodibility changes.

Climatic factors affecting overwinter changes in EF also played a role in overwinter changes in soil surface roughness (C_{par}). The overwinter decline in C_{par} (Fig. 3-3) was related to the breakdown of large aggregates by the same climatic forces that induced declines in EF. However, unlike EF, the impact of rainfall may account for a larger component of the decline in C_{par} , due to its smoothing effect (Römkens and Wang, 1987; Zobeck and Popham, 1990). Even though the Wilson and Lethbridge sites differed in the amounts and form of precipitation, the number of days with snow cover, and the number of freeze-thaw cycles (Table 3-1), final C_{par} values were similar at both sites (3.7% at Wilson, 3.3% at Lethbridge, Fig. 3-3). This illustrates that similar levels of soil roughness can exist in spring, despite being influenced by a different set of climatic factors over the previous winter.

Management Effects on DASD

Although the sites in this study had quite similar surface textures and organic carbon levels, their management histories varied. The Fairfield site had been continuously cropped with conventional tillage and all surface residue was removed for three years prior to the study. This site had the highest initial EF value (38.9%, Fig. 3-2a) and was the only site where EF increased to >60% (wind erosion threshold; Anderson and Wenhardt, 1966) during the winter period. Physical disruption from a history of tillage and the removal of crop residue seems to have increased erosion risk. The Wilson site had been in zero tillage for 7 yr prior to the fallow season in 1993. Although this site had the lowest initial EF value (12.6%, Fig. 3-2b) of all three sites, it showed the fastest overwinter increase in EF (Fig. 3-2b). This agrees with the findings of Larney et al. (1994) and Layton et al. (1993) who indicated that zero till soils may have higher erosion risk than tilled soils if residue cover is jeopardized. In addition, the Wilson site was the only one where earthworm casts were observed on the soil surface. Clapperton et al. (1997) reported significantly higher populations of earthworms (*Aporrectodea calignosa*, Savigny) under zero tillage than under conventional tillage in southern Alberta. Earthworm casts are known to have lower bulk densities and have a propensity to absorb more water than surface soil, making them more susceptible to freeze-thaw disruption (Lal and Akinremi, 1983).

The Lethbridge site, which had been under long term wheat-fallow management with conventional tillage, had an initial EF value (30.4%, Fig. 3-2c) that fell between the values for the Fairfield (38.9%, Fig. 3-2a) and Wilson (12.6%, Fig. 3-2b) sites but had the lowest organic carbon levels of all sites (15 g kg⁻¹). The EF values at the Lethbridge site did not increase above the threshold value of 60%, unlike the Fairfield site, and increased very slowly over the winter period (Fig. 3-2c), unlike the Wilson site.

Our results suggest that management systems and cropping histories may play a significant role in overwinter changes in wind erodibility risk. They influence the starting value of EF in fall as well as the slope of the overwinter relationship between EF and time.

3.4 CONCLUSIONS

This 3 yr study elucidated the effect of overwinter climatic factors on wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta. A decrease in GMD of soil aggregates, an increase in EF, and a decrease in soil surface roughness led to increased erodibility of these soils from fall to spring.

Dividing the overwinter period into three segments, distinguished by the timing and form of precipitation, provided useful insights into erodibility changes. In the "fall rain/snow" period, freeze-thaw cycles were detrimental to soil structure, especially if accompanied by appreciable precipitation which increased soil water content and provided a mechanism for soil disruption (*i.e.* ice expansion in confined pore space). The largest changes in erodibility occurred during the "winter snow" period when intermittent snowmelt likely increased soil water content and allowed freeze-thaw cycles to be more effective in aggregate breakdown. Freeze-drying and aggregate abrasion by blowing snow may have also contributed to de-aggregation during this period. In the "spring snow/rain" period, while freeze-thaw cycles and precipitation were still important in aggregate breakdown, heavy rains in late spring were the dominant factor in decreasing the erodibility of the Lethbridge soil in the form of a surface crust.

The study also demonstrated the effect of cropping history on wind erodibility and pointed to the fragility of zero tillage soils once the protective layer of surface residue is removed. A soil that was cultivated after seven years of zero tillage,

although non-erodible in fall, was not resilient to overwinter climatic forces experienced in southern Alberta, and had approached erosion risk in spring.

3.5 REFERENCES

- Anderson, C.H. and F. Bisal. 1969. Snow cover effect on the erodible soil fraction. Can. J. Soil Sci., 49:287-296.
- Anderson, C.H. and A. Wenhardt. 1966. Soil erodibility, fall and spring. Can. J. Soil Sci. 46:255-259.
- Bullock, M.S., W.D. Kemper, and S.D. Nelson. 1988. Soil cohesion as affected by freezing, water content, time and tillage. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 52:770-776.
- Bullock, M.S., F.J. Larney, S.M. McGinn, and R.C. Izaurralde. 1999. Freeze-drying processes and wind erodibility of a clay loam soil in southern Alberta. Can. J. Soil Sci. 79:127-135.
- Bullock, M.S., F.J. Larney, S.M. McGinn, and B.M. Olson. 1992. Influence of snow on wind erosion processes in the chinook belt of southern Alberta. p. 532-535. *In* Management of agriculture science. Proc. Soils Crops Workshop, 20-21 Feb. 1992. Univ. of Saskatchewan, Extn. Div., Saskatoon, SK.
- Chepil, W.S. 1941. Relation of wind erosion to the dry aggregate structure of a soil. Sci. Agric. (Ottawa), 21: 488-507.
- Chepil, W.S. 1942. Measurement of wind erosiveness of soils by dry sieving procedure. Sci. Agric. (Ottawa) 23:113-117.

- Chepil W.S. 1950. Properties of soil which influence wind erosion: I. The governing principle of surface roughness. Soil Sci. 69:149-162.
- Chepil W.S. 1952. Improved rotary sieve for measuring state and stability of dry soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 16:113-117.
- Chepil W.S. 1954. Seasonal fluctuations in soil structure and erodibility of soil by wind. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 18:13-16.
- Cihacek, L.J., M.D. Sweeney and E.J. Deibert. 1993. Characterization of wind erosion sediments in the Red River Valley of North Dakota. J. Environ. Qual. 22:305-310.
- Clapperton, M.J., J.J. Miller, F.J. Larney and C.W. Lindwall. 1997. Earthworm populations as affected by long-term tillage practices in southern Alberta, Canada. Soil Biol. Biochem. 29:631-633.
- de Jong, E., and R.G. Kachanoski. 1988. Drying of frozen soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 68:807-811.
- Fryrear, D.W. 1984. Soil ridges-clods and wind erosion. Trans. ASAE, 27:445-448.
- Gardner, W.R. 1956. Representation of soil aggregate-size distribution by a logarithmic-normal distribution. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 20:151-153.
- Johnston, A.M., F.J. Larney and C.W. Lindwall. 1995. Spring wheat and barley response to long-term fallow management. J. Prod. Agric. 8:264-268.
- Kemper, W.D., R.C. Rosenau, and A.R. Dexter. 1987. Cohesion development in disrupted soils as affected by clay and organic matter content and temperature. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51:860-867.

- Lal, R. and O.O. Akinremi. 1983. Physical properties of earthworm casts and surface soil as influenced by management. Soil Sci. 135:114-122.
- Larney, F.J., M.S. Bullock, H.H. Janzen, B.H. Ellert, and E.C.S. Olson. 1998. Wind erosion effects on nutrient redistribution and soil productivity. J. Soil Water Conserv. 53:133-140.
- Larney, F.J., M.S. Bullock, S.M. McGinn, and D.W. Fryrear. 1995. Quantifying wind erosion on summer fallow in southern Alberta. J. Soil Water Conserv. 50:91-95.
- Larney, F.J., A.J. Cessna, and M.S. Bullock. 1999. Herbicide transport on wind-eroded sediment. J. Environ. Qual. 28:1412-1421.
- Larney, F.J., C.W. Lindwall and M.S. Bullock. 1994. Fallow management and overwinter effects on wind erodibility in southern Alberta. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 58:1788-1794.
- Layton, J.B., E.L. Skidmore and C.A. Thompson. 1993. Winter-associated changes in dry-soil aggregation as influenced by management. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57:1568-1572.
- Merrill, S.D. 1998. Comments on the chain method for measuring soil surface roughness: Use of the chain set. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 62:1147-1149.
- Merrill, S.D., A.L. Black, D.W. Fryrear, A. Saleh, T.M. Zobeck, A.D. Halvorson and D.L. Tanaka. 1999. Soil wind erosion hazard of spring wheat-fallow as affected by long-term climate and tillage. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 63:1768-1777.

- Merrill, S.D., A.L. Black and T.M. Zobeck. 1995. Overwinter changes in dry aggregate size distribution influencing wind erodibility in a spring wheatsummerfallow cropping system. J. Minn. Acad. Sci. 59(2):27-36.
- Potter, K.N. and T.M. Zobeck. 1990. Estimation of soil microrelief. Trans. ASAE 33:156-161.
- Potter, K.N., T.M. Zobeck and L.J. Hagen. 1990. A microrelief index to estimate soil erodibility by wind. Trans. ASAE 33:151-155.
- Römkens, M.J.M. and J.Y. Wang. 1986. Effect of tillage on surface roughness. Trans. ASAE, 29: 429-433.
- Römkens, M.J.M. and J.Y. Wang. 1987. Soil roughness changes from rainfall. Trans. ASAE, 30:101-107.
- Saleh, A. 1993. Soil roughness measurement: chain method. J. Soil and Water Conserv. 48:527-529.
- Saleh, A. 1997. Reply to "Comments on chain method for measuring soil roughness". Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 61:1533-1535.
- SAS Institute Inc. 1989. SAS/STAT User's Guide. Version 6. 4th ed. Vol. 2. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Saxton, K.E. 1995. Wind erosion and its impact on off-site air quality in the Columbia plateau—an integrated research plan. Trans. ASAE 38:1031-1038.
- Skidmore, E.L. 1997. Comments on chain method for measuring soil roughness. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 61:1532-1533.

- Uehara, G. and R.C. Jones. 1974. Bonding mechanisms for soil crusts: Part 1. Particle surfaces and cementing agents. *In* J.W. Cary and D.D. Evans (ed.) Soil crusts. Tech. Bull. 214, Agric. Exp. Stn., Univ. of Arizona, Tucson, AZ.
- Wall, G.J., E.A. Pringle, G.A. Padbury, H.W. Rees, J. Tajek, L.J.P. van Vliet, C.T. Stushnoff, R.G. Eilers, and J.-M. Cossette. 1995. Erosion. p. 61-76. *In* D.F. Acton and L.J. Gregorich (ed.) The health of our soils: toward sustainable agriculture in Canada. Publication 1906/E. Centre for Land and Biological Resources Research, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Zobeck, T.M. 1991. Soil properties affecting wind erosion. J. Soil Water Conserv. 46:112-118.
- Zobeck, T.M. and C.A. Onstad. 1987. Tillage and rainfall effects on random roughness: A review. Soil Till. Res. 9:1-20.
- Zobeck, T.M., and T.W. Popham. 1990. Dry aggregate size distribution of sandy soils as influenced by tillage and precipitation. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 54:198-204.
| | | Fall rain/sno | w | Winter snow | | Spring snow/rain | | | |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|---------------|------------|-------------|---------|------------------|-----------|---------|------------|
| | Fairfield | Wilson | Lethbridge | Fairfield | Wilson | Lethbridge | Fairfield | Wilson | Lethbridge |
| Start date | 18 Sep. | 26 Oct. | 30 Aug. | 13 Nov. | 11 Nov. | 28 Oct. | 8 Feb. | 29 Mar. | 26 Jan. |
| End date | 13 Nov. | 11 Nov. | 28 Oct. | 8 Feb. | 29 Mar. | 26 Jan, | 12 May | 29 Apr. | 24 May |
| No. of days | 56 | 16 | 59 | 87 | 138 | 90 | 93 | 31 | 118 |
| Total rainfall, mm | 39.6 | 3.6 | 47.6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 44.6 | 7.3 | 121.1 |
| Max. daily rainfall, mm | 10.0 | 2.4 | 13.2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 12.6 | 5.0 | 24.4 |
| Snowfall, cm | 21.2 | 2.8 | 21.6 | 43.2 | 82.4 | 42.1 | 36.1 | 8.0 | 45.7 |
| Total precip., mm | 60.4 | 7.0 | 83.0 | 41.0 | 64.4 | 35.9 | 84.2 | 14.1 | 155.7 |
| Snow cover, d | 9 | 2 | 3 | 67 | 60 | 60 | 31 | 2 | 30 |
| Mean snow depth, cm | 2.5 | 0.8 | 2.7 | 3.8 | 4.4 | 3.1 | 4,6 | 6.3 | 2.7 |
| Total FT [†] cycles | 7 | 5 | 0 | 24 | 46 | 26 | 23 | 14 | 24 |
| FT [†] cycles, no snow cover | 7 | 5 | 0 | 18 | 40 | 18 | 20 | 13 | 21 |
| EF change, % | +7.4 | +4.1 | +1,1 | +11.2 | +25.1 | +17.0 | +5.7 | +1.3 | -9.2 |

Table 3-1. Climatic variables and erodible fraction (EF) changes during "fall rain/snow", "winter snow" and "spring snow/rain" overwinter periods at Fairfield (1992-93), Wilson (1993-94) and Lethbridge (1994-95) sites.

[†]FT cycles = freeze-thaw cycles



Fig. 3-1. Relationship between cumulative days from start of study in fall and geometric mean diameter (GMD) for (a) Fairfield (1992-93); (b) Wilson (1993-94) and (c) Lethbridge (1994-95) sites. For ease of interpretation the x-axis label is shown as date rather than cumulative days. Cumulative days are shown above or below data points. Day 1 = 18 Sept. 1992 at Fairfield; 26 Oct. 1993 at Wilson and 30 Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. Error bars = ± 1 std. error.



Fig. 3-2. Relationship between cumulative days from start of study in fall and erodible fraction (EF) for (a) Fairfield (1992-93); (b) Wilson (1993-94) and (c) Lethbridge (1994-95) sites. For ease of interpretation the x-axis label is shown as date rather than cumulative days. Cumulative days are shown above or below data points. Day 1 = 18 Sept. 1992 at Fairfield; 26 Oct. 1993 at Wilson and 30 Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. Error bars = ± 1 std. error.



Fig. 3-3. Relationship between cumulative days from start of study in fall on soil surface roughness (C_{par}) for (a) Wilson (1993-94) and (b) Lethbridge (1994-95) sites. For ease of interpretation the x-axis label is shown as date rather than cumulative days. Cumulative days are shown above or below data points. Day 1 = 26 Oct. 1993 at Wilson and 30 Aug. 1994 at Lethbridge. Error bars = ±1 std. error.

Chapter 4

Preliminary results on the role of blowing snow on wind erodibility of clay loam soils in southern Alberta

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Wind erosion is a major contributor to soil degradation in the semi-arid region of the Canadian prairies (Wall et al., 1995). Overwinter breakdown of soil aggregates can increase soil erodibility and lead to wind erosion especially under tillage fallow systems like those in southern Alberta (Larney et al., 1994, 1995). An improved understanding of this process is needed if we are to design state-of-the-art prediction systems (i.e. Wind Erosion Prediction System- WEPS) to help plan effective wind erosion control measures (Hagen, 1991).

Southern Alberta is renowned for the winter winds called "chinooks" (Grace, 1987). These are warm dry winds that descend the leeward or eastern side of the Rocky Mountains. Wind speeds during these events generally range from 60 to 100 km hr⁻¹ while temperature changes may exceed 20°C. Blowing snow abrasion of soil is an overwinter process that has been overlooked as a contributor to soil aggregate breakdown. Pomeroy et al. (1993) considered the saltation component in modeling snow transport and sublimation and found that 59-83% of transport occurred within 0.05 m of the snow surface at two sites in Saskatchewan.

Teichert (1939) noted that "snow at low temperatures possesses the physical properties required for corrasion effects even in hard rocks". Dietrich (1977) used silt sized ice crystals as abrader in a wind tunnel (7.8 to 8.6 m s⁻¹) for the mineral blocks of calcite, synthetic flourite and synthetic periclase. After only ten minutes the edges

and corners of the blocks were "sporadically broken". It was concluded that "wind erosion may involve much softer or smaller missiles, such as snow or dust". Saltation of blowing soil is a major contributor to increasing the erodible mass (Hagen, 1984). However, the abrasive properties of blowing snow have not been related to wind erodibility.

Li and Pomeroy (1997a) defined the threshold wind speed for snow transport as the minimum wind speed initiating or sustaining saltation and found that it was related to properties of the surface snowpack (Li and Pomeroy, 1997a). Aspects such as snow particle bonding, cohesion, and kinetic friction must be taken into account. Snow particle bonding can be affected by the process of wind deposition which packs particles together allowing more bonding points. Metamorphism is another process affecting snow bonding. It occurs as snow ages and is related to water vapor movement due to vertical temperature gradients or, under an equi-temperature condition, a vapor pressure gradient may occur because of snow crystal shapes (Li and Pomeroy, 1997a).

Snow cohesion "is related to viscous forces associated with thin layers of water on snow crystals under warm conditions" (Li and Pomeroy, 1997a). Cohesion can increase dramatically as temperatures approach 0°C (Schmidt, 1980; Hosler et al., 1957; Oura et al., 1967; Conklin and Bales, 1993). The water layer thickness relationship to temperature is non-linear and increases rapidly above –8°C. Snow cohesion is a significant factor in southern Alberta as chinook winds cause temperatures to rise above 0°C. These processes of snow aging can be extremely

complex to quantify but are closely related to air temperature (Li and Pomeroy, 1997a).

To simplify predictions of the probability of blowing snow three factors, air temperature, snow age, and wind speed, have effectively allowed modeling of the process (Li and Pomeroy, 1997b). The probability of blowing snow decreases with increasing air temperature and snow age, and increases with increasing wind speeds. Probabilities of dry snow movement are more accurately and consistently predicted than for wet snow movement (Li and Pomeroy, 1997b).

There is little information regarding particle counts and kinetic energy generated as snow or soil blows across a field. A SENSITTM wind erosion sensor measures kinetic energy of moving soil and snow particles as well as particle counts (Gillette and Stockton, 1986). Bullock et al. (1992) correlated climatic variables and visual observations of soil abrasion by blowing snow with measurements of kinetic energy taken with a SENSITTM meter.

The objectives of this study were to compare (1) the threshold wind speeds for blowing snow and blowing soil; and (2) the abrasive capacity or kinetic energy of blowing snow with that of blowing soil.

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study site was located 15 km south of Lethbridge, Alberta. Soil within the top 2.5 cm layer contained 35% sand, 31% silt, 34% clay, and 17.2 g kg⁻¹ organic carbon. The site had been continuously cropped under no-till since 1984. Spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) was grown in 1992. From May-August 1993, a 200 m

diameter circle (3.14 ha) was conventionally fallowed with three passes (11 May, 28 June, 2 August) of a heavy-duty cultivator equipped with a hydraulically-driven rod weeder. A final pass with a heavy-duty cultivator, rod weeder and tine harrows to a depth of 8 cm was conducted on 26 Oct. 1993 resulting in minimal surface residue. Surrounding the site was 25 cm tall wheat stubble for at least 0.5 km in all directions.

Meteorological equipment (Campbell Scientific Ltd., Logan, UT) was erected immediately after fall tillage to measure wind speeds at the 2 m height. A SENSITTM wind erosion sensor was installed at 5 cm above the soil surface at the center of the site. Snowfall, snow depth, and air temperatures were recorded at the Lethbridge Research Centre approximately 15 km away.

4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Sixteen blowing snow events were recorded between 3 Nov. 1993 and 23 Feb. 1994. The 8-9 Feb. 1994 event was selected for special focus for two reasons: (1) it was the largest in terms of kinetic energy and particle counts and (2) it immediately preceded the initial soil erosion event at the site on 9 Feb. 1994 (Table 4-1, Fig. 4-1a) allowing a comparison of blowing snow and blowing soil events.

Approximately 7.0 cm of snow fell on 5 Feb. 1994 at the beginning of a 4-day period when maximum daily air temperatures did not exceed -5°C. At these temperatures, the likelihood occurrence of snow cohesion would be low (Schmidt, 1980; Hosler et al., 1957; Oura et al., 1967; Conklin and Bales, 1993).

A non-linear segmented regression model was used to determine the threshold wind velocities for blowing snow and soil on 8-9 Feb. 1994 from kinetic energy data provided by the SENSITTM (Fig. 4-2). The threshold wind velocity was 7.9 m s⁻¹ at the 2 m height for snow. In Saskatchewan, Li and Pomeroy (1997a) reported threshold wind speeds for dry snow transport ranging from 2.49-6.83 m s⁻¹ with an average of 4.78 m s⁻¹ while wet snow transport thresholds ranged from 4.35-8.7 m s⁻¹ with an average of 6.15 m s⁻¹. It should be noted that the Li and Pomeroy (1997a) wind speeds were converted from 10 m height to 2 m height by the formula:

 $u_2 = u_{10} [\ln(z_{10} z_2^{-1})]^{-1}$, where

 $u_2 = 2$ m wind speed in m s⁻¹, $z_2 = 2$ m height in m $u_{10} = 10$ m wind speed in m s⁻¹, $z_{10} = 10$ m height in m

The blowing snow threshold wind speed for our event fell within the wet snow transport threshold range reported by Li and Pomeroy (1997a). The maximum air temperature during blowing snow approached -5°C on 9 February, a temperature conducive to snow cohesion hence necessitating higher wind speeds for snow movement (Fig. 4-1b; Li and Pomeroy, 1997a, b).

The threshold wind velocity was 13.8 m s⁻¹ for soil (Fig. 4-2). This compares favorably with minimum 2 m wind velocities (12.5-13.0 m s⁻¹) associated with initial soil erosion events on a similar soil type (Larney et al., 1995).

Total kinetic energy pulses were >35,000 for snow compared to 614 for soil. Soil erosion losses associated with the event were 1 Mg ha⁻¹. If we use the snowderived kinetic energy, the proportional soil loss would have been 58 Mg ha⁻¹. The kinetic energy for blowing snow and soil closely paralleled wind velocity (Fig. 4-1a).

Snow particle counts summed for 10 min periods during the 8-9 Feb. 1994 event reached a maximum of 149,677 at 0650 hr on 9 February and revealed a positive relationship with wind speed (Fig. 4-3a). Snow particle counts were lower at initiation of blowing snow, which may indicate that larger particles were more difficult to move at that time. Soil particle counts were much lower than snow reaching a maximum of 24,274 at 1440 hr on 9 Feb. 1994.

A kinetic energy particle count ratio (KE PC⁻¹) was calculated for snow and soil by dividing kinetic energy by particle count (Fig. 4-3b). Apart from the initial snow movement period there was not a close relationship between KE PC⁻¹ and wind velocity. The largest KE PC⁻¹ values (40 to 94 KE PC⁻¹) were at the beginning of the blowing snow period (0 h, 9 February). At 0100, h the KE PC⁻¹ fell below 1. Although the wind velocities and kinetic energy were higher at 0700 h on 9 February (Fig. 4-3b, 4-1a) than those at 0 h on 9 February, the KE PC⁻¹ for blowing snow was lower (0.013 KE PC⁻¹). This indicates movement of low mass particles during the latter stages of the blowing snow event. Earlier researchers noted that snowflakes become spherical shapes similar to sand as they are moved by wind and abraded (Schmidt, 1972).

The soil erosion maximum KE PC^{-1} value was 0.27 at 1400 h and was much less than for the snow (Fig. 4-3b). This is an indication of soil resistance to movement by wind even though wind velocities were higher during the blowing soil event than during the blowing snow event (Fig 4-3b).

From this preliminary study it is evident that the threshold wind speed for blowing snow was within the range reported in the literature. The kinetic energy associated with blowing snow was much larger than that associated with blowing soil for the 8 and 9 February event. This study has provided further evidence that the role

of blowing snow in wind erodibility, mainly as an abrader of exposed soil aggregates, should not be overlooked and should therefore be included in any kind of wind erosion prediction modeling effort.

4.4 REFERENCES

- Bullock, M.S., F. J. Larney, S.M. McGinn, and B.M. Olson. 1992. Influence of snow on wind erosion processes in the chinook belt of southern Alberta. p. 532-535. *In*Management of agriculture science. Proc. Soils Crops Workshop, Saskatoon. 20-21 Feb. 1992. Univ. of Saskatchewan Ext. Div., Saskatoon, SK.
- Conklin, M.H. and R.C. Bales. 1993. SO₂ uptake on ice spheres: Liquid nature of the ice-air interface. J. Geophys. Res. 98(D9):16851-16855.
- Dietrich, R.V. 1977. Impact abrasion of harder by softer materials. J. Geol. 85:242-246.
- Gillette, D.A. and P.H. Stockton 1986. Mass momentum and kinetic energy fluxes of saltating particles. p. 35-36, *In* W.G. Nickling (ed.) Aeolian Geomorphology,Allen and Unwin, Boston, MA.
- Grace, B. 1987. Chinooks. Chinook. 9(3):52-55.
- Hagen, L.J. 1984. Soil aggregate abrasion by impacting sand and soil particles. Trans. ASAE 27:805-816.
- Hagen, L.J. 1991. A wind erosion prediction system to meet user needs. J. Soil Water Cons. 46:106-111.
- Hosler, C. L., D.C. Jense, and L. Goldshlak. 1957. On the aggregation of ice crystals to form snow. J. Meteor. 14:415-420.

- Larney, F.J., M.S. Bullock, S.M. McGinn, and D.W. Fryrear. 1995. Quantifying wind erosion on summer fallow in southern Alberta. J. Soil Water Cons. 50(1):91-95.
- Li, L. and J.W. Pomeroy. 1997a. Estimates of threshold wind speeds for snow transport using meteorological data. J. Appl. Meteorol. 36:205-213.
- Li, L. and J.W. Pomeroy. 1997b. Probability of occurrence of blowing snow.J. Geophys. Res. 102(D18):21955-21964.
- Oura, H., T. Ishida, D. Kobayashi, S Kobayashi, and T. Yamada. 1967. Studies on blowing snow. Part II: Physics of Snow and Ice: Int. Conf. on Low Temperature Science, Sapporo, Japan, Institute of Low Temperature Science, Hokkaido University, 1099-1117.
- Pomeroy, J.W., D.M. Gray and P.G. Landine. 1993. The prairie blowing snow model: characteristics, validation, operation. J. Hydrol. 144:165-192.
- Schmidt, R.A., 1972. Sublimation of wind transported snow- A model. U.S. For. Serv. Rocky Mount. For. Range Exp. Stn., Res. Pap. RM-90, 24pp.
- Schmidt, R. A. 1980. Threshold wind-speeds and elastic impact in snow transport. J. Glaciol. 26-94:453-467.
- Teichert, C. 1939. Corrasion by wind-blown snow in polar regions. Am. J. Sci. 237:146-148.
- Wall G.J., E.A. Pringle, G.A. Padbury, H.W. Rees, J. Tajek, L.J.P. van Vliet, C.T.
 Stushnoff, R.G. Eilers, and J.-M. Cossette. 1995. Erosion. p. 61-76. *In* D.F.
 Acton and E.F. Gregorich (eds.) The health of our soils: toward sustainable
 agriculture in Canada. Publication 1906/E. Centre for Land and Biological
 Resources Research, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.

Date	Duration (Hr)	Kinetic Energy (Pulses)	Particle Counts	
Nov. 3-4, 1993	25	4,778	103,689	
Nov. 13, 1993	6	2,255	11,596	
Nov. 21-22, 1993	32	2,464	3,929	
Dec. 4, 1993	10	6,436	349,188	
Dec. 18, 1993	10	80	563	
Dec. 22-23, 1993	27	2,743	105,813	
Dec. 26, 1993	9	122	760	
Jan. 5, 1994	16	2,632	4,141	
Jan. 6-7, 1994	7	12,934	750,094	
Jan. 16, 1994	5	404	234	
Jan. 29, 1994	8	247	538	
Jan. 31, 1994	6	1,886	71,866	
Feb. 1-2, 1994	18	437	2,733	
Feb. 4-6, 1994	45	30,466	1,994,030	
Feb. 8-9, 1994*	14	35,796	2,017,924	
Feb. 18-23, 1994	115	13,364	124,879	
TOTAL	353	117,044	5,541,977	

Table 4-1. Dates and duration of blowing snow and recorded kinetic energy and particle counts as measured by the SENSITTM in 1993-94 at a 3.14 ha bare field site near the Lethbridge Research Centre.

*Date soil erosion began



Fig. 4-1. Relationships between kinetic energy (pulses) for blowing snow and soil and (a) wind velocity and (b) air temperature on February 8 and 9, 1994.



Fig. 4-2. Observed and predicted kinetic energy pulses for blowing snow and soil with observed wind velocity for February 8 and 9, 1994.



Fig 4-3. Relationships between (a) particle count (PC) and (b) kinetic energy per particle count (KE PC^{-1}) and wind velocity for blowing snow and soil on February 8 and 9, 1994.

Chapter 5

Synthesis

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

There were three objectives in this study to elucidate overwinter processes that affect temporal aggregate size distribution and wind erodibility. I will recap these objectives along with pertinent findings and conclusions. Based on my findings, I will outline soil management alternatives to deter overwinter breakdown and will propose possible directions for future wind erosion research.

The first objective was to isolate the overwinter process of freeze-drying (in laboratory and field studies) and determine how it affects soil aggregate size distribution. It was concluded that there was a positive correlation between water content at time of freezing and soil aggregate disruption by freeze-drying. This finding agreed with those of previous investigators (Anderson and Bisal, 1969; Hinman and Bisal, 1968) and suggested that fall irrigation (a common management practice in southern Alberta aimed at increasing moisture reserves for spring seeding) may render soils more erodible in spring.

The freeze-dry study also revealed that fall sampled aggregates are slightly more resilient to freeze-dry processes than those sampled in winter or spring. This agrees with other investigators (Bullock et al., 1988; Layton et al., 1993) and suggests that a freeze-dry cycle in the fall may not be as detrimental to soil structure as one in late winter or early spring. It also indicates that soils enter winter with considerable bonding strength that subsequently weakens. The reaction of aggregates to repeated cycles of wetting, freezing and freezedrying was also examined in the laboratory. Using the 60% erodible fraction (EF) as a threshold for erosion, it was found that only 1.7 cycles were needed to reach this threshold for aggregates pre-wet to 0.3 kg kg⁻¹, 9.3 cycles for those pre-wet to 0.2 kg kg⁻¹ and 31.2 cycles for those pre-wet to 0.1 kg kg⁻¹. This shows once again that water content prior to freezing and freeze-drying influences soil structural integrity and supports the management decision of leaving exposed cloddy soils as dry as possible in the fall. Probably most important of all, and perhaps often overlooked, is that even dry soils (e.g. 0.1 kg kg⁻¹ which is close to permanent wilting point for these clay loams) can reach the erosion threshold if subjected to sufficient freeze-dry cycles. This finding demonstrates the role of freeze drying in increasing wind erosion risk and has implications for soils in arid and semi-arid regions of the Canadian prairies and northern Great Plains. It should be noted that the laboratory study was performed on aggregates of 1.2-2.0 mm diam. A much wider range of aggregate diameters would be found in field situations.

The field component of the freeze-dry study estimated the number of freezedrying periods by calculating vapor pressure gradients and suggested that freezedrying occurs when field soils are frozen and have no snow cover. If freeze-drying periods were also accompanied by an energy source, such as air temperatures >0°C or sunlight, estimates of the number of freeze-dry cycles required to reach erosion thresholds (>60% EF) were similar to those predicted by the laboratory study.

The second objective was to intensively monitor overwinter changes in soil aggregate size distribution and surface roughness and determine as well, the

relationships of these changes with time and climatic variables. Previous overwinter research used only two-point sampling (i.e. fall and spring samples) to measure aggregate size distribution changes (Larney et al., 1994; Merrill et al. 1999). With an increased sampling regime, more accurate relationships between aggregate size distribution and time could be modelled. Exponential decay models described the GMD and soil roughness data and a positive linear response was found between EF and time for all three clay loam soils in the study. However, even though the soils were similar in texture and organic matter, initial aggregation in fall and overwinter responses were quite different. Historical soil management practices (e.g. no till) influenced temporal responses in DASD. It should also be stressed that time is not responsible for changing the aggregate size distributions but rather time-related variables or processes (eg. freeze-drying, freeze-thaw).

By dividing the three study winters into three periods designated as: 1) "fall rain/snow", 2) "winter snow" and 3) "spring snow/rain", it was possible to draw some relationships between aggregate size distribution changes and climatic variables. For the "fall rain/snow" period, freeze-thaw activity was only effective in disrupting aggregates if accompanied by appreciable precipitation. As previously suggested, leaving these clay loam soils as dry as possible in the fall (e.g. by omitting fall irrigation) would greatly reduce aggregate degradation.

The "winter snow" period was the most disruptive for aggregates in all three winters, which was attributed to the large number of freeze-thaw cycles during this period. The site with the greatest increase in erodibility, not only had the greatest number of freeze-thaw cycles, but also had the largest amount of precipitation.

Additionally, other processes such as freeze-drying and blowing snow abrasion of soil aggregates could also have been contributors to aggregate breakdown during this period (Bullock et al., 1992, 1999; de Jong and Kachanoski, 1988).

During the "spring snow/rain" period, two of the three soils had the smallest increases in EF compared to the other overwinter periods and the third had a decrease in EF which was attributed to soil crusting due to heavy rains in late spring. Low wet and dry aggregate stability of soils in spring has been previously documented by other researchers (Bullock et al., 1988; Layton et al., 1993). Exposure of these soils to rain energy and/or snowmelt leading to wetting, and perhaps saturation, could allow dispersion into individual soil particles and upon evaporative drying the substantial clay content would promote crust formation (Kemper et al., 1987; Uehara and Jones, 1974).

The third objective was to determine the abrasive capacity of blowing snow as well as threshold wind speeds for blowing snow initiation. Sixteen blowing snow periods were isolated between November 3, 1993 and February 23, 1994 with a SENSITTM wind erosion sensor. One blowing snow event (8-9 Feb. 1994) was examined closely and pointed to the potential abrasive capacity of blowing snow by quantifying higher levels of kinetic energy and particle counts than associated with blowing soil. The study also reported the lower threshold wind speed necessary for blowing snow initiation compared with that for blowing soil initiation. A protective stubble surface on these soils would enhance snow trapping and inhibit soil abrasion by blowing snow as well as provide insulation from temperature fluctuations.

Just as their parent materials were mechanically broken apart by frost action, the resultant soils, in their aggregate forms, are also susceptible to frost effects (Brady, 1990). Precipitation or some form of wetting of soil aggregates in conjunction with freezing temperatures proved a driver for aggregate disruption. Soils may be wetted prior to the winter season by rainfall and irrigation or during the winter by melting snow.

A schematic flowchart conceptualizes the interacting processes involved in overwinter aggregate size changes (Fig. 5-1) and attempts to succinctly summarize the findings of this study. The importance of precipitation as the driver of overwinter processes is emphasized by its position at the top of the flowchart. Ambient air temperature dictates the form of precipitation (rain *vs.* snow) as well as snow cover *vs.* snowmelt. Rain and snow melt on bare soil lead to surface wetting which in turn may lead to soil crusting (if ambient temperature is above freezing); freeze-thawing (if temperatures hover around zero); or freeze-drying (if temperatures remain below zero). This study has shown that freeze-drying leads to an increase in erodible fraction while surface crusting leads to a decrease in erodible fraction. If snow cover remains, then high wind speeds may cause blowing snow and hence soil abrasion, which supplies a source of loose erodible material and increases erosion risk.

This flowchart demonstrates the many pathways and their interconnections that could ultimately dictate the size distribution of overwinter soil aggregates and hence wind erosion risk. Any one of these pathways merits further field and laboratory investigation to fully quantify the magnitude of its contribution to the net change in overwinter wind erodibility.

5.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

- The data collected during this study may be useful in evaluating process based models such as WEPS and more specifically the SOIL sub-model of WEPS (Hagen, 1991). Currently WEPS has limited overwinter information on wind erodibility.
- This dataset could be used to develop wind erosion prediction models suited specifically to southern Alberta climatic conditions and agricultural management practices. Considerable time was spent trying to model changes in GMD and EF using climatic variables. Monte-Carlo and Neural Network models were explored but data outside the experimental boundaries could not be predicted successfully. Perhaps other modeling techniques could be successfully employed with this data set or more years of data collection would allow for a broader range of climatic and soil conditions that would allow development of a more robust model.
- Assessing the complexities of the interactions of the various overwinter processes
 occurring in the field and their collective influence on aggregate size distribution
 changes proved a challenge. Future experiments could isolate the individual
 contributions of wet-dry, freeze-thaw, freeze-dry, blowing snow abrasion and
 other processes (preferably in combined laboratory and field experiments) that
 affect aggregate size distributions and wind erosion risk.
- This study concentrated on overwinter processes and wind erodibility of bare soils. Obviously, the presence of residue cover would have a mitigating effect on wind erosion risk. However, overwinter bare soil conditions are none too rare, especially on irrigated soils in the chinook region of southern Alberta. The forecast of

increased production of specialty crops (potatoes, sugar beets, pulses) in the region, which leave very low amounts of protective crop residue and rely heavily on intensive tillage, will likely increase the area of bare soils in fall.

5.3 REFERENCES

- Anderson, C.H. and F. Bisal. 1969. Snow cover effect on the erodible soil fraction. Can. J. Soil Sci., 49:287-296.
- Brady, N.C. 1990. The nature and properties of soils. Macmillan Publishing Company, New York.
- Bullock, M.S., W.D. Kemper, and S.D. Nelson. 1988. Soil cohesion as affected by freezing, water content, time and tillage. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 52:770-776.
- Bullock, M.S., F.J. Larney, S.M. McGinn, and R.C. Izaurralde. 1999. Freeze-drying processes and wind erodibility of a clay loam soil in southern Alberta. Can. J. Soil Sci. 79:127-135.
- Bullock, M.S., F. J. Larney, S.M. McGinn, and B.M. Olson. 1992. Influence of snow on wind erosion processes in the chinook belt of southern Alberta. p. 532-535. *In* Management of agriculture science. Proc. Soils Crops Workshop, Saskatoon. 20-21 Feb. 1992. Univ. of Saskatchewan Ext. Div., Saskatoon, SK.
- de Jong, E., and R.G. Kachanoski. 1988. Drying of frozen soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 68:807-811.
- Hagen, L.J. 1991. A wind erosion prediction system to meet user needs. J. Soil Water Cons. 46:106-111.

Hinman, W.C. and F. Bisal. 1968. Alterations of soil structure upon freezing and

thawing and subsequent drying. Can. J. Soil Sci. 48:193-197.

- Kemper, W.D., R.C. Rosenau, and A.R. Dexter. 1987. Cohesion development in disrupted soils as affected by clay and organic matter content and temperature. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51:860-867.
- Larney, F.J., C.W. Lindwall and M.S. Bullock. 1994. Fallow management and overwinter effects on wind erodibility in southern Alberta. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 58:1788-1794.
- Layton, J.B., E.L. Skidmore and C.A. Thompson. 1993. Winter-associated changes in dry-soil aggregation as influenced by management. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57:1568-1572.
- Merrill, S.D., A.L. Black, D.W. Fryrear, A. Saleh, T.M. Zobeck, A.D. Halvorson and D.L. Tanaka. 1999. Soil wind erosion hazard of spring wheat-fallow as affected by long-term climate and tillage. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 63:1768-1777.
- Uehara, G. and R.C. Jones. 1974. Bonding mechanisms for soil crusts: Part 1. Particle surfaces and cementing agents. *In J.W. Cary and D.D. Evans (ed.) Soil crusts.* Tech. Bull. 214, Agric. Exp. Stn., Univ. of Arizona, Tucson, AZ.



Fig. 5-1. Schematic of overwinter processes affecting wind erodibility of bare clay loam soils in southern Alberta (important processes are in bold italics).